Published for SISSA by O Springer

RECEIVED: June 6, 2023 ACCEPTED: August 3, 2023 PUBLISHED: August 16, 2023

# Integrable crosscap states: from spin chains to 1D Bose gas

# Miao He and Yunfeng Jiang

School of Physics, Southeast University, Nanjing 211189, China Shing-Tung Yau Center, Southeast University, Nanjing 210096, China

*E-mail:* hemiao@seu.edu.cn, jinagyf2008@seu.edu.cn

ABSTRACT: The notion of a crosscap state, a special conformal boundary state first defined in 2d CFT, was recently generalized to 2d massive integrable quantum field theories and integrable spin chains. It has been shown that the crosscap states preserve integrability. In this work, we first generalize this notion to the Lieb-Liniger model, which is a prototype of integrable non-relativistic many-body systems. We then show that the defined crosscap state preserves integrability. We derive the exact overlap formula of the crosscap state and the on-shell Bethe states. As a byproduct, we prove the conjectured overlap formula for integrable spin chains rigorously by coordinate Bethe ansatz. It turns out that the overlap formula for both models take the same form as a ratio of Gaudin-like determinants with a trivial prefactor. Finally we study quench dynamics of the crosscap state, which turns out to be surprisingly simple. The stationary density distribution is simply a constant. We also derive the analytic formula for dynamical correlation functions in the Tonks-Girardeau limit.

KEYWORDS: Bethe Ansatz, Integrable Field Theories, Lattice Integrable Models

ARXIV EPRINT: 2305.16046



# Contents

1	Introduction	1			
<b>2</b>	Crosscap states of integrable spin chains				
	2.1 Integrability of the crosscap state	4			
	2.2 Overlaps formula for compact chains	6			
	2.3 Overlap formula for the non-compact chain	12			
3	Crosscap state of Lieb-Liniger model	14			
	3.1 Crosscap state in Lieb-Liniger model	14			
	3.2 Exact overlap formula	17			
	3.3 Crosscap partition function	20			
4	Dynamical correlation functions in crosscap state	22			
	4.1 Two-point function	23			
	4.2 Four-point function	25			
<b>5</b>	Conclusion and discussion	26			
$\mathbf{A}$	A Proof of equation (2.56)				
в	B Deriving the crosscap state in Lieb-Liniger model				
$\mathbf{C}$	C Lattice computation of correlation functions				

## 1 Introduction

An integrable quantum field theory (IQFT) in 1+1 dimension has infinitely many local conserved charges. In the presence of boundaries, some of these charges are no longer conserved. Nevertheless, there are special boundary conditions which preserves an infinite subset of the conserved charges. These boundary conditions are called integrable. For a Lorentz invariant theory, one can equivalently place the boundary in the temporal direction, in which case the boundary condition becomes a special state in the Hilbert space called an integrable boundary state [1]. A characteristic feature of integrable boundary states is that they are annihilated by infinitely many odd charges of the model. In recent years, it has become clear that the notion of integrable boundary states can be generalized to a broader class of theories such as integrable lattice models [2, 3].

Interests on integrable boundary states stem from both statistical mechanics and AdS/CFT correspondence. In statistical mechanics, these states can serve as initial states for the investigation of out-of-equilibrium dynamics [4–8]. Due to their integrability, one

can have more analytic control for the calculations. In AdS/CFT correspondence, it turns out that various kinds of correlation functions in  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM theory and ABJM theory at weak coupling can be computed by the overlap of an on-shell Bethe state and an integrable boundary state. These include the one-point functions in defect CFT [9–15], three-point functions of two giant gravitons and one non-BPS single-trace operator [16–18], and correlation functions of involving circular Wilson loops [19, 20] and 't Hooft loops [21]. In all these cases, the exact overlap formulae play an important role. For integrable boundary states, only the Bethe states with parity even rapidities lead to non-vanishing overlaps. Moreover, the overlap formula has very nice analytic structure [22–27]. In all known cases, it can be written as a the product of a prefactor and a ratio of Gaudin-like determinants. The former is state dependent while the latter is universal and only depends on the symmetry. The exact formulae have been proven in a number of cases using both the coordinate Bethe ansatz [28, 29] and algebraic Bethe ansatz [22–27, 30, 31], while for other cases they remain conjectures with extensive numerical evidence.

Very recently, a new type of integrable boundary states called crosscap states have been investigated. These states first arise in 2d CFT, which are special conformal boundary states [32]. Geometrically, they correspond to non-orientable surfaces such as  $\mathbb{RP}^2$  and the Klein bottle, which cannot be described by a local boundary condition. In [33], by generalizing the geometric intuition from CFT, the authors defined crosscap states for 2d massive IQFTs and the integrable spin chains. Remarkably, they discovered that crosscap states as they defined are integrable. The crosscap states have several new features which make them rather special. First of all, most known integrable boundary states such as the two-site states and matrix product states are short-range entangled while crosscap states are long-range entangled by construction. In addition, the overlap formula for the crosscap state and an on-shell Bethe state has a trivial prefactor [33], and is given simply by the ratio of Gaudin-like determinants. In this sense, crosscap states are probably the 'cleanest' integrable boundary states. The unique features of the crosscap states are intimately related to their geometric origin. Therefore we expect it should be possible to define such states for a wide class of models. Indeed, generalizations to  $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$  spin chains [34] and classical sigma models [35] have been studied recently.

Apart from relativistic IQFTs and spin chains, there is yet another important class of integrable models which are continuous but non-relativistic. The prototype of these models is the Lieb-Liniger model [36], which describes one dimensional bosonic particles interacting with a pairwise  $\delta$ -function potential. Apart from theoretical interests, the Lieb-Liniger model has direct relevance to cold atom experiments (see for examples the reviews [37–39]). It is particularly interesting to compute its dynamical observables since they can be measured in the laboratory. However, so far the only known integrable boundary state for the Lieb-Liniger model is the so-called Bose-Einstein Condensate (BEC) state. It was found that the overlap of the BEC state and on-shell Bethe states obey parity even selection rules and the overlap formula exhibit the same structure as spin chains [29, 40, 41]. Since both for IQFTs and spin chains, one can construct many integrable boundary states, it is a natural question whether we can construct more integrable boundary states for the Lieb-Liniger model. In view of its close relation to experiments, such integrable boundary states might be even more interesting. The crosscap state seems to be a natural candidate, as its geometric origin gives us a clear guidance for its construction. As we will show below this indeed turns out to be the case.

Now let us sketch our strategy for the construction. The Lieb-Liniger model sits somewhere between IQFTs and spin chains. On the one hand, it can be obtained as the non-relativistic limit of the sinh-Gordon model [42, 43]; on the other hand, it corresponds to special continuum limits of certain spin chain models [44, 45]. Therefore we can start with crosscap states in either IQFTs or spin chains and then take the proper limit. It turns out that the second option is more feasible. We will comment on its relation to the first option later. We consider two methods to obtain crosscap state in the Lieb-Liniger model from spin chains: the first one involves taking a special continuum limit of the XXZ spin chain [44], while the second one involves discretizing the Lieb-Liniger model as a generalized XXX spin chain [46]. It turns out that the two methods lead to the same result, given by

$$|\mathcal{C}\rangle = \exp\left(\int_0^{\ell/2} \mathrm{d}x \,\Phi^{\dagger}(x) \Phi^{\dagger}(x+\ell/2)\right) |\Omega\rangle, \qquad (1.1)$$

where  $\Phi^{\dagger}(x)$  is the bosonic operator which creates a particle at position x. The geometric meaning of (1.1) is quite clear — particles are created in pairs at antipodal points. As a result, this state is long-range entangled by construction. One might notice that this state is similar to the integrable boundary states constructed by Ghoshal and Zamolodhikov in IQFT [1] where one replaces  $\Phi^{\dagger}(x)\Phi^{\dagger}(x+\frac{\ell}{2})$  by  $K^{ab}(\theta)A^{\dagger}_{a}(\theta)A^{\dagger}_{b}(-\theta)$ . However, we want to emphasis two important differences. First, the Faddeev-Zamolodchikov operator  $A^{\dagger}_{a}(\theta)$  is a creation operator in momentum space while  $\Phi^{\dagger}(x)$  is the creation operator in position space. Second, the Ghoshal-Zamolodchikov construction describes boundary states in the infinite volume while for the crosscap state finite volume is necessary to define antipodal points.

The rest of this paper is organized as follows. In section 2, we generalize the proof of integrability of crosscap states to anisotropic inhomogeneous Heisenberg spin chains, and derive the exact overlap formula using the coordinate Bethe ansatz. This section can be seen as a useful technical preparation for similar calculations in the Lieb-Liniger model. In section 3, we propose the crosscap state in the Lieb-Liniger model by taking the continuum limit from spin chain crosscap state. We prove its integrability and derive the exact overlap formula of the crosscap state and an on-shell Bethe state. The dynamical correlation function in crosscap states are studied in section 4. We conclude and discuss future directions in section 5. Some details of the calculations are given in the appendices.

## 2 Crosscap states of integrable spin chains

The crosscap state is constructed by identifying the states at antipodal sites. For XXX spin chain, the entangled pair of states at sites j and  $j + \frac{L}{2}$  is

$$|c\rangle\rangle_{j} = \left(1 + S_{j}^{+}S_{j+L/2}^{+}\right)|\downarrow\rangle_{j} \otimes |\downarrow\rangle_{j+L/2}, \qquad (2.1)$$

where we denote the generators of the SU(2) algebra at site-j by  $S_j^{\pm}$  and  $S_j^z$ . The crosscap state is then defined by taking the tensor product of such entangled pairs

$$|\mathcal{C}\rangle_{\mathrm{SU}(2)} \equiv \prod_{j=1}^{L/2} (|c\rangle\rangle_j)^{\otimes} = \prod_{j=1}^{L/2} \left(1 + S_j^+ S_{j+\frac{L}{2}}^+\right) |\Omega\rangle, \qquad (2.2)$$

where the  $|\Omega\rangle = |\downarrow^L\rangle$  is the pseudovacuum.

The crosscap state can also be defined for the non-compact  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  spin chain [33]. The main difference is that more than one particles can be excited on the same site. In this case, the entangled pair at sites j and  $j + \frac{L}{2}$  reads

$$|c\rangle\rangle_{j} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \left( S_{j}^{+} S_{j+L/2}^{+} \right)^{n} |0\rangle_{j} \otimes |0\rangle_{j+L/2},$$
(2.3)

where  $|0\rangle$  represents the lowest-weight state of  $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ . The crosscap state is given by

$$|\mathcal{C}\rangle_{\mathrm{SL}(2)} \equiv \prod_{j=1}^{L/2} (|c\rangle\rangle_j)^{\otimes} = \prod_{j=1}^{L/2} \left[ \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \left( S_j^+ S_{j+L/2}^+ \right)^n \right] |\Omega\rangle.$$
(2.4)

Both (2.2) and (2.4) has been studied in [33].

In this section, we derive two new results which are useful for the Lieb-Liniger model. One is defining crosscap states for the inhomogeneous XXZ spin chain and proving their integrability. This constitutes a slight generalization of the results in [33]. The other is deriving the exact overlaps between crosscap states and on-shell Bethe states for both compact and non-compact spin chains. The overlap formula was first conjectured in [33] and later proven in [34] using algebraic Bethe ansatz for XXX spin chain (as a special case of  $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$  spin chain). Here we give an alternative proof using CBA, which works for both compact and non-compact spin chains and can be generalized to the Lieb-Liniger model.

## 2.1 Integrability of the crosscap state

The integrable boundary states  $|\Psi_0\rangle$  are the states which are annihilated by the odd charges

$$Q_{2n+1}|\Psi_0\rangle = 0. \tag{2.5}$$

For spin chains, it is more convenient to work with the transfer matrix, which is the generating functional of the conserved charges

$$T(\lambda) = \exp\left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^n}{n!} Q_{n+1}\right).$$
(2.6)

In [2, 3], the authors propose to define integrable boundary states as the states satisfying

$$T(\lambda)|\Psi_0\rangle = T(-\lambda)|\Psi_0\rangle.$$
(2.7)

We shall adopt this definition here.

**Inhomogeneous XXZ chain.** Let us consider the inhomogeneous XXZ spin chain defined by the *R*-matrix

$$R(\lambda) = \begin{pmatrix} \sinh(\lambda + \eta) \\ & \sinh(\lambda) \sinh(\eta) \\ & \sinh(\eta) \sinh(\lambda) \\ & \sinh(\lambda + \eta) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.8)

For later convenience, we can also write it in the tensor product form

$$R(\lambda) = \frac{1}{2} \Big( \sinh(\lambda + \eta) + \sinh(\lambda) \Big) \mathbf{1} \otimes \mathbf{1} + \Big( \sinh(\lambda + \eta) - \sinh(\lambda) \Big) S^z \otimes \sigma^z + \sinh(\eta) \Big( S^+ \otimes \sigma^- + S^- \otimes \sigma^+ \Big),$$
(2.9)

where  $\sigma^{\alpha}$  are Pauli matrices and  $S^{\alpha} = \sigma^{\alpha}/2$ . The Lax operator at site-*j* is defined as

$$L_j(\lambda) = R_{aj} \left(\lambda - \xi_j - \eta/2\right), \qquad (2.10)$$

where  $\xi_j$  is the inhomogeneity. The inhomogeneous XXZ spin chain is defined by the following transfer matrix

$$T_{\rm XXZ}(u) = \operatorname{tr}_a\left(L_1(\lambda)\dots L_L(\lambda)\right).$$
(2.11)

**Crosscap state and integrability.** For the inhomogeneous XXZ spin chain, we define the crosscap state to be the same state (2.2). We now prove its integrability. Using the relation

$$S_j^{\pm}|c\rangle\!\rangle_j = S_{j+L/2}^{\mp}|c\rangle\!\rangle_j , \qquad (2.12)$$

we find that

$$\sigma_2 L_j(\lambda) \sigma_2 |c\rangle\rangle_j = -L_{j+L/2}(-\lambda) |c\rangle\rangle_j, \qquad (2.13)$$

if the inhomogeneities at site j and j + L/2 are also identified as [47]

$$\xi_{j+L/2} = -\xi_j, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, L/2.$$
 (2.14)

By employing (2.13), the action of the transfer matrix on the crosscap state reads

$$\begin{split} T_{\rm XXZ}(\lambda)|\mathcal{C}\rangle &= {\rm tr}_a \left[ \left( L_1(\lambda) \cdots L_{L/2}(\lambda) \right) \left( L_{L/2+1}(\lambda) \cdots L_L(\lambda) \right) \right] |\mathcal{C}\rangle \\ &= (-1)^{L/2} {\rm tr}_a \left[ \left( L_1(\lambda) \cdots L_{L/2}(\lambda) \right) \left( \sigma_2 L_1(-\lambda) \cdots L_{L/2}(-\lambda) \sigma_2 \right) \right] |\mathcal{C}\rangle \\ &= (-1)^{L/2} {\rm tr}_a \left[ \left( L_1(-\lambda) \cdots L_{L/2}(-\lambda) \right) \left( \sigma_2 L_1(\lambda) \cdots L_{L/2}(\lambda) \sigma_2 \right) \right] |\mathcal{C}\rangle \\ &= (-1)^L {\rm tr}_a \left[ \left( L_1(-\lambda) \cdots L_{L/2}(-\lambda) \right) \left( L_{L/2+1}(-\lambda) \cdots L_L(-\lambda) \right) \right] |\mathcal{C}\rangle \\ &= T_{\rm XXZ}(-\lambda) |\mathcal{C}\rangle. \end{split}$$

Therefore the crosscap state is integrable if the inhomogeneities at antipodal sites have paired structure (2.14).

#### 2.2 Overlaps formula for compact chains

Owing to the condition (2.7), the overlap of an on-shell Bethe state  $|\lambda_N\rangle$  and an integrable boundary state  $|\Psi_0\rangle$  is only non-zero if the Bethe roots are parity even, namely  $\{\lambda_N\} = \{-\lambda_N\}$ . For N being even, this implies

$$\{\boldsymbol{\lambda}_N\} = \{\lambda_1, -\lambda_1, \lambda_2, -\lambda_2 \dots, \lambda_{N/2}, -\lambda_{N/2}\}.$$
(2.15)

For parity even Bethe roots, it is known that the overlap take the following form<sup>1</sup>

$$\frac{\langle \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N | \Psi_0 \rangle}{\sqrt{\langle \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N \rangle}} = \prod_{j=1}^{N/2} \mathcal{F}(\lambda_j) \times \sqrt{\frac{\det G_{N/2}^+}{\det G_{N/2}^-}},$$
(2.16)

where  $\mathcal{F}(\lambda)$  is a state-dependent function and det  $G_{N/2}^{\pm}$  are the Gaudin-like determinants. We will prove that for the crosscap states the overlaps indeed take the form (2.16) with  $\mathcal{F}(\lambda) = 1$ . We follow the method proposed in [28] with important modifications.

**Coordinate Bethe ansatz.** An *N*-particle eigenstate  $|\lambda_N\rangle$  for both the XXX and XXZ spin chains take the following form

$$|\boldsymbol{\lambda}_N\rangle = \sum_{\{\boldsymbol{n}_N\}} \chi\left(\boldsymbol{n}_N, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N\right) |n_1, n_2, \cdots, n_N\rangle, \qquad (2.17)$$

where

$$|n_1, n_2, \dots, n_N\rangle = S_{n_1}^+ S_{n_2}^+ \cdots S_{n_N}^+ |\Omega\rangle.$$
 (2.18)

The summation over  $\{n_N\}$  means summing over all the possible particle positions with the following constraint

$$0 \le n_1 < n_2 < \dots < n_N \le L - 1. \tag{2.19}$$

The wave function  $\chi(\boldsymbol{n}_N, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N)$  is given by

$$\chi(\boldsymbol{n}_N, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N) = \sum_{\sigma \in S_N} \prod_{j > k} f\left(\lambda_{\sigma_j} - \lambda_{\sigma_k}\right) \prod_{j=1}^N e^{ip(\lambda_{\sigma_j})n_j}, \qquad (2.20)$$

where the explicit form of  $p(\lambda)$  and  $f(\lambda)$  depend on the model. The rapidities  $\lambda_N$  satisfy the Bethe ansatz equations

$$e^{ip(\lambda_j)L} \prod_{\substack{k=1\\k\neq j}}^{N} \frac{f(\lambda_j - \lambda_k)}{f(\lambda_k - \lambda_j)} = 1, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, N.$$
 (2.21)

For the XXX and XXZ spin chains, the two functions are given by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>For some boundary states such as matrix product states with higher bond dimensions, the prefactor can take a more complicated form.

• XXX spin chain:

$$e^{ip(\lambda)} = \frac{\lambda - i/2}{\lambda + i/2}, \quad f(\lambda) = \frac{\lambda + i}{\lambda}.$$
 (2.22)

• XXZ spin chain:

$$e^{ip(\lambda)} = \frac{\sinh(\lambda - i\eta/2)}{\sinh(\lambda + i\eta/2)}, \quad f(\lambda) = \frac{\sinh(\lambda + i\eta)}{\sinh(\lambda)}, \quad (2.23)$$

where  $\eta$  is related to the anisotropy by  $\Delta = \cosh \eta$ .

The Bethe states are the eigenstate of the Hamiltonian

$$H |\boldsymbol{\lambda}_N\rangle = E_N (\boldsymbol{\lambda}_N) |\boldsymbol{\lambda}_N\rangle. \qquad (2.24)$$

For the XXX spin chain, the eigenvalue reads

$$E_N(\lambda_N) = -\sum_{j=1}^N \frac{2}{\lambda_j^2 + 1/4}.$$
 (2.25)

For the XXZ spin chain, the eigenvalue reads

$$E_N(\boldsymbol{\lambda}_N) = \sum_{j=1}^N \frac{4\sinh^2 \eta}{\cos(2\lambda_j) - \cosh \eta}.$$
(2.26)

Norm of Bethe states. The norm of the on-shell Bethe states takes the following form [48]

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N \rangle = \prod_{j=1}^N \frac{1}{p'(\lambda_j)} \prod_{j < k}^N f(\lambda_j - \lambda_k) f(\lambda_k - \lambda_j) \times \det G_N, \qquad (2.27)$$

where  $G_N$  is the Gaudin matrix whose elements are given by

$$G_{jk} = \delta_{jk} \left( p'(\lambda_j) L + \sum_{l=1}^{N} \varphi(\lambda_j - \lambda_l) \right) - \varphi(\lambda_j - \lambda_k) , \qquad (2.28)$$
$$\varphi(\lambda) = -i \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda} \log\left(\frac{f(\lambda)}{f(-\lambda)}\right).$$

If the Bethe roots are parity even (2.15), the norm further factorizes

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N \rangle = \prod_{j=1}^{N/2} \frac{f\left(2\lambda_j\right) f\left(-2\lambda_j\right)}{\left(p'\left(\lambda_j\right)\right)^2} \prod_{1 \le j < k \le N/2} \left[\bar{f}\left(\lambda_j, \lambda_k\right)\right]^2 \times \det G_{N/2}^+ \det G_{N/2}^-, \quad (2.29)$$

where

$$G_{jk}^{\pm} = \delta_{jk} \left( p'(\lambda_j) L + \sum_{l=1}^{N/2} \varphi^+(\lambda_j, \lambda_l) \right) - \varphi^{\pm}(\lambda_j, \lambda_k), \qquad (2.30)$$

$$\varphi^{\pm}(\lambda,\mu) = \varphi(\lambda-\mu) \pm \varphi(\lambda+\mu), \qquad (2.31)$$

$$f(\lambda,\mu) = f(\lambda-\mu)f(\lambda+\mu)f(-\lambda-\mu)f(-\lambda+\mu).$$
(2.32)

**Some notations.** Following [28], it is convenient to introduce the notations

$$l_j = e^{ip(\lambda_j)}, \quad f(l_j, l_k) = f(\lambda_j - \lambda_k).$$
(2.33)

**N** 7

Then the wave function becomes

$$\chi(\boldsymbol{n}_N, \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N) = \sum_{\sigma \in S_N} \prod_{j > k} f\left(l_{\sigma_j}, l_{\sigma_k}\right) \prod_{j=1}^N l_{\sigma_j}^{n_j}, \qquad (2.34)$$

and the Bethe equations can be written as

$$a_j = l_j^L = \prod_{\substack{k=1\\k\neq j}}^N \frac{f(l_k, l_j)}{f(l_j, l_k)}, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, N.$$
(2.35)

**Crosscap overlaps.** Now we turn to the overlaps. We first consider the overlaps between the crosscap state and the *N*-particle basis states (2.18). From the definition of the crosscap state (2.2), we find

$$\langle \mathcal{C}|n_1, n_2, \dots, n_N \rangle = \prod_{i=1}^{N/2} \delta_{n_i, n_{i+N/2} - L/2},$$
 (2.36)

which implies that the particles must appear in pairs with distance L/2. Therefore both L and N should be even. We can split the valid N-particle positions into two parts

$$\{\boldsymbol{n}_N\}_C := \{\boldsymbol{n}_{N/2}\} \cup \{\boldsymbol{n}_{N/2} + \frac{L}{2}\},$$
(2.37)

$$\{\boldsymbol{n}_{N/2}\} := \{n_1, n_2, \dots, n_{N/2} | 0 \le n_1 < n_2 < \dots < n_{N/2} \le \frac{L}{2} - 1\},$$
(2.38)

where the second part is completely determined by the first part. Using (2.36), the overlap of the crosscap state and a Bethe state reads

$$\langle \mathcal{C} | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N \rangle = \mathcal{S}_N(\boldsymbol{l}_N, \boldsymbol{a}_N) = \sum_{\sigma \in S_N} \prod_{j>k} f\left(l_{\sigma_j}, l_{\sigma_k}\right) \sum_{\{\boldsymbol{n}_{N/2}\}} \prod_{j=1}^{N/2} l_{\sigma_j}^{n_j} l_{\sigma_{(j+N/2)}}^{n_j+L/2}.$$
 (2.39)

We introduce the summation function

$$B_N(\boldsymbol{l}_N|L) = \sum_{\{\boldsymbol{n}_{N/2}\}} \prod_{j=1}^{N/2} l_j^{n_j} l_{j+N/2}^{n_j+L/2}, \qquad (2.40)$$

for later convenience. To see how the method works, let us first consider the simplest 2-particle state.

2-particle states. The overlap can be calculated straightforwardly

$$\langle \mathcal{C} | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2 \rangle = f(l_2, l_1) \frac{l_2^{L/2} \left( 1 - (l_1 l_2)^{L/2} \right)}{1 - l_1 l_2} + f(l_1, l_2) \frac{l_1^{L/2} \left( 1 - (l_1 l_2)^{L/2} \right)}{1 - l_1 l_2}.$$
 (2.41)

The Bethe equations read

$$a_1 = l_1^L = \frac{f(l_2, l_1)}{f(l_1, l_2)}, \qquad a_2 = l_2^L = \frac{f(l_1, l_2)}{f(l_2, l_1)}.$$
 (2.42)

For an on-shell Bethe state, the Bethe equation implies that  $(l_1l_2)^{L/2} = 1$ . If we naively substituting this into (2.41), we find that the overlap is vanishing for any on-shell Bethe state. The key point here is to notice that we need to *first* take the paired rapidities limit  $l_1l_2 \rightarrow 1$  and *then* impose Bethe ansatz equations, which leads to

$$\langle \mathcal{C} | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2 \rangle = L \sqrt{f(2\lambda_1) f(-2\lambda_1)}.$$
 (2.43)

The overlap can be written in Gaudin determinant form

$$\langle \mathcal{C} | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2 \rangle = \frac{1}{p'(\lambda_1)} \sqrt{f(2\lambda_1)f(-2\lambda_1)} \times \det G_1^+, \quad \det G_1^+ = p'(\lambda_1)L.$$
(2.44)

From this simple example, we learned that the non-vanishing overlap is obtained by taking the paired rapidities limit before imposing Bethe ansatz equations.

**N-particle states.** For N-particle states, the summation function defined in (2.40) can be written as

$$B_N(\boldsymbol{l}_N|L) = \prod_{j=1}^{N/2} l_{j+N/2}^{L/2} \sum_{n_1=0}^{\frac{L-N}{2}+1} \sum_{n_2=n_1+1}^{\frac{L-N}{2}+2} \dots \sum_{n_{N/2}=n_{N/2-1}+1}^{\frac{L}{2}} \prod_{j=1}^{N/2} \left( l_j l_{j+N/2} \right)^{n_j}.$$
 (2.45)

If we ignore the overall factor in (2.45), the summation function basically becomes a summation over half of the spin chain without constraints, except that we have  $l_j l_{j+N/2}$  instead of  $l_j$  in the summand. The latter summation function can be computed by using a recursion relation [9, 28]. This allows us to obtain an explicit albeit slightly involved expression for  $B_N(l_N|L)$ 

$$B_N(\boldsymbol{l}_N|L) = \sum_{j=0}^{N/2} B_{N,j}(\boldsymbol{l}_N|L), \qquad (2.46)$$

where

$$B_{N,j}(\boldsymbol{l}_N|L) = \frac{(-1)^j \prod_{k=j+1}^{j+N/2} (a_k)^{1/2} \prod_{k=j+N/2+1}^N a_k \prod_{k=2}^j (l_k l_{k+N/2})^{k-1}}{\prod_{k=j+1}^{N/2} \left(\prod_{i=j+1}^k l_i l_{i+N/2} - 1\right) \prod_{k=1}^j \left(\prod_{i=k}^j l_i l_{i+N/2} - 1\right)}.$$
(2.47)

The summation function is a rational function of  $l_j$ . In order to take the paired rapidity limit, we first consider the behavior of  $B_N(\mathbf{l}_N|L)$  near the pole at  $l_m l_{m+N/2} = 1$ . There are two terms  $B_{N,m-1}(\mathbf{l}_N|L)$  and  $B_{N,m}(\mathbf{l}_N|L)$  that contain this pole. Taking the sum of these two terms and using  $l_m l_{m+N/2} = 1$  for the regular part, we obtain

$$B_{N,m-1}(\boldsymbol{l}_N|L) + B_{N,m}(\boldsymbol{l}_N|L) = \frac{\left[\left(a_m a_{m+N/2}\right)^{1/2} - 1\right] \left(a_{m+N/2}\right)^{1/2}}{l_m l_{m+N/2} - 1} \times \frac{(-1)^{m-1} \prod_{k=m+1}^{m+N/2-1} (a_k)^{1/2} \prod_{k=m+N/2+1}^{N} a_k \prod_{k=2}^{m-1} (l_k l_{k+N/2})^{k-1}}{\prod_{k=m+1}^{N/2} \left(\prod_{i=m+1}^{k} l_i l_{i+N/2} - 1\right) \prod_{k=1}^{m-1} \left(\prod_{i=k}^{m-1} l_i l_{i+N/2} - 1\right)}.$$
 (2.48)

Notice that the second line is nothing but  $B_{N,m}$  with two particles at m and m + N/2 removed. Therefore near the pole  $l_m l_{m+N/2} = 1$ , we have

$$B_N(\boldsymbol{l}_N|L) \sim \frac{\left(a_m a_{m+N/2}\right)^{1/2} - 1}{l_m l_{m+N/2} - 1} \left(a_{m+N/2}\right)^{1/2} B_{N-2,m-1}(\{1, \dots, \mathcal{M}, \dots, \mathcal{M}\}|L).$$
(2.49)

Plugging back to the overlap formula (2.39), we also need to multiply a factor in front of  $B_N(l_N|L)$  and then sum over all the permutations. Since we focus on the pole  $l_m l_{m+N/2} = 1$ , we also need to separate out the  $l_m$  and  $l_{m+N/2}$  dependent part for the multiplying factor. Note that the exchange of  $l_m$  and  $l_{m+N/2}$  preserve the relative position of m and m + L/2, which gives the same pole. After factorizing the  $l_m l_{m+N/2} = 1$  pole, we find

$$S_{N}(\boldsymbol{l}_{N},\boldsymbol{a}_{N}) = \sum_{\sigma \in S_{N}} \prod_{j>k} f\left(l_{\sigma_{j}}, l_{\sigma_{k}}\right) B_{N}(\sigma \boldsymbol{l}_{N}|L)$$

$$\sim \frac{\left(a_{m}a_{m+N/2}\right)^{1/2} - 1}{l_{m}l_{m+N/2} - 1} \left(F_{m} + F_{m+N/2}\right)$$

$$\times \sum_{\sigma \in S_{N-2}} \prod_{\substack{j>k\\ j,k \neq m,m+N/2}} f\left(l_{\sigma_{j}}, l_{\sigma_{k}}\right) B_{N-2,m-1}(\sigma\{1, \dots, p, \dots, m+N/2, \dots, N\}|L),$$
(2.50)

where the last line does not depend on  $l_m$  and  $l_{m+N/2}$ . The sum of  $F_m$  and  $F_{m+N/2}$  reads

$$F_m + F_{m+N/2} = \prod_{j=m+1}^{m+N/2-1} \left[ \frac{f(l_j, l_m) f(l_j, l_{m+N/2})}{f(l_m, l_j) f(l_{m+N/2}, l_j)} \right]^{1/2} \prod_{j=m+N/2+1}^N \frac{f(l_j, l_m) f(l_j, l_{m+N/2})}{f(l_m, l_j) f(l_{m+N/2}, l_j)} \\ \times \prod_{\substack{j=1\\ j \neq m, m+N/2}}^N f(l_m, l_j) f(l_{m+N/2}, l_j) \times \mathbf{F}(l_m, l_{m+N/2}),$$
(2.51)

where

$$\mathbf{F}(l_m, l_{m+N/2}) = \prod_{j=m+1}^{m+N/2-1} \left[ \frac{f(l_j, l_m) f(l_{m+N/2}, l_j)}{f(l_m, l_j) f(l_j, l_{m+N/2})} \right]^{1/2} \times f(l_{m+N/2}, l_m) \left(a_{m+N/2}\right)^{1/2} \\ + \prod_{j=m+1}^{m+N/2-1} \left[ \frac{f(l_j, l_{m+N/2}) f(l_m, l_j)}{f(l_{m+N/2}, l_j) f(l_j, l_m)} \right]^{1/2} \times f(l_m, l_{m+N/2}) (a_m)^{1/2}. \quad (2.52)$$

The main new feature of the crosscap state is that the function  $\mathbf{F}(l_m, l_{m+N/2})$  depends on not only  $l_m, l_{m+N/2}$  but also  $l_j$  for m < j < m + N/2, while for the integrable boundary states considered in [28], the poles appear at neighboring  $l_m l_{m+1} = 1$  and the function  $\mathbf{F}$ just depends on  $l_m$  and  $l_{m+1}$ . We introduce the modified parameters

$$a_j^{\text{mod}} = \frac{f(l_j, l_m) f(l_j, l_{m+N/2})}{f(l_m, l_j) f(l_{m+N/2}, l_j)} a_j, \quad 1 \le j \le N,$$
(2.53)

so that the first line on the right hand side in (2.51) can be absorbed in  $B_{N-1,m-1}$  by making the replacement  $a_j \to a_j^{\text{mod}}$ . Then the recursion relation (2.50) can be written as

$$S_{N}(\boldsymbol{l}_{N}|L) \sim \frac{\left(a_{m}a_{m+N/2}\right)^{1/2} - 1}{l_{m}l_{m+N/2} - 1} \mathbf{F}(l_{m}, l_{m+N/2}) \prod_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq m}}^{N/2} \bar{f}(l_{m}, l_{j}) \times S_{N-2}^{\text{mod}}(\{1, \dots, \mathcal{M}, \dots, \underline{m+N/2}, \dots, N\}|L)$$
(2.54)

Now we consider the paired rapidity limit

$$\lambda_{j+N/2} \to -\lambda_j, \qquad j = 1, 2, \dots, N/2.$$
 (2.55)

In this limit,  $\mathbf{F}(l_m, l_{m+N/2})$  simplifies drastically

$$\mathbf{F}(l_m, l_{m+N/2}) \to 2\sqrt{f(-2\lambda_m)f(2\lambda_m)} \,. \tag{2.56}$$

The details can be found in appendix A. Let us denote the paired rapidity limit of  $S_N(l_N|L)$  by  $D(\lambda_{N/2}, m_{N/2}|L)$ , in which we have introduced the new parameter

$$m_j = -i\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda_j}\log(a_j) = p'(\lambda_j)L.$$
(2.57)

The recursion relation (2.54) implies that

$$\frac{\partial D(\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{N/2}, \boldsymbol{m}_{N/2}|L)}{\partial m_m} = \frac{\sqrt{f(-2\lambda_m)f(2\lambda_m)}}{p'(\lambda_m)} \prod_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq m}}^{N/2} \bar{f}(\lambda_m, \lambda_j) \times D(\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{N/2-1}, \boldsymbol{m}_{N/2-1}^{\mathrm{mod}}|L), \quad (2.58)$$

where the modified parameter is given by

$$m_j^{\text{mod}} = -i\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\lambda_j}\log\left(a_j^{\text{mod}}\right) = m_j + \varphi^+(\lambda_j, \lambda_m).$$
(2.59)

To write the recursion relation in a nicer form, let us define  $\tilde{D}\left(\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{N/2}, \boldsymbol{m}_{N/2} | L\right)$  via

$$D\left(\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{N/2}, \boldsymbol{m}_{N/2}|L\right) = \prod_{j=1}^{N/2} \frac{\sqrt{f(-2\lambda_j)f(2\lambda_j)}}{p'(\lambda_j)} \prod_{1 \le j < k \le N/2} \bar{f}(\lambda_j, \lambda_k) \tilde{D}\left(\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{N/2}, \boldsymbol{m}_{N/2}|L\right). \quad (2.60)$$

It follows from (2.58) that the new function satisfies

$$\frac{\partial \tilde{D}\left(\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{N/2}, \boldsymbol{m}_{N/2} | L\right)}{\partial m_m} = \tilde{D}\left(\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{N/2-1}, \boldsymbol{m}_{N/2-1}^{\text{mod}} | L\right), \qquad (2.61)$$

where it is understood that  $m_m$  is not included on the right hand side. The initial condition for this differential equation is given in (2.44). Following the same arguments as in [28, 48], the unique solution to (2.61) is nothing but the Gaudin determinant

$$\tilde{D}\left(\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{N/2}, \boldsymbol{m}_{N/2} | L\right) = \det G^+_{N/2}.$$
(2.62)

Finally, we obtain the exact on-shell overlaps of crosscap states and Bethe states

$$\langle \mathcal{C} | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N \rangle = \prod_{j=1}^{N/2} \frac{\sqrt{f(2\lambda_j) f(-2\lambda_j)}}{p'(\lambda_j)} \prod_{1 \le j < k \le N/2} \bar{f}(\lambda_j, \lambda_k) \times \det G^+_{N/2}, \qquad (2.63)$$

which leads to

$$\frac{\langle \mathcal{C} | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N \rangle}{\sqrt{\langle \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N \rangle}} = \sqrt{\frac{\det G_{N/2}^+}{\det G_{N/2}^-}}.$$
(2.64)

Therefore we indeed find a trivial prefactor. This fact seems to be universal for crosscap states defined in all integrable models so far. From our derivations, it is clear that this is the case for both XXX and XXZ spin chains. The exact crosscap overlap formula in  $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$  symmetric spin chains also takes the same form [34]. We will see that it is also the case for the Lieb-Liniger model.

#### 2.3 Overlap formula for the non-compact chain

In this subsection, we generalize the above consideration to the non-compact  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  spin chain. The Hilbert space is spanned by the following N-particle basis

$$|n_1, n_2, \cdots, n_N\rangle \equiv S_{n_1}^+ S_{n_2}^+ \cdots S_{n_N}^+ |\Omega\rangle,$$
 (2.65)

where  $|\Omega\rangle$  denotes the pseudovacuum. Since for the non-compact chain we can excite multiple particles on one site, when we take the sum over the magnon positions we have

$$0 \le n_1 \le n_2 \le \ldots \le n_N \le L - 1.$$
 (2.66)

This model is also solvable by coordinate Bethe ansatz. The Bethe states take the same form as for the compact chains, except the restriction for the summation over  $n_j$  is now given by (2.66), and the two functions in the Bethe wavefunction reads

$$e^{ip(\lambda)} = \frac{\lambda - i/2}{\lambda + i/2}, \qquad f(\lambda) = \frac{\lambda - i}{\lambda}.$$
 (2.67)

We shall follow the same procedure as before. From the definition of the crosscap state (2.4), for basis states satisfying (2.66) we have

$$\langle \mathcal{C}|n_1, n_2, \dots, n_N \rangle = \prod_{j=1}^{N/2} \delta_{n_j, n_{j+N/2} - L/2}.$$
 (2.68)

We can again divide the position of N-particle states into two sets

$$\{\boldsymbol{n}_N\}_C := \{\boldsymbol{n}_{N/2}\} \cup \{\boldsymbol{n}_{N/2} + \frac{L}{2}\},\tag{2.69}$$

$$\{\boldsymbol{n}_{N/2}\} := \{n_1, n_2, \dots, n_{N/2} | 0 \le n_1 \le n_2 \le \dots \le n_{N/2} \le \frac{L}{2} - 1\}.$$
(2.70)

Using (2.68), the overlap reads

$$\langle \mathcal{C} | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N \rangle = \sum_{\sigma \in S_N} \prod_{j > k} f\left( l_{\sigma_j}, l_{\sigma_k} \right) \sum_{\{\boldsymbol{n}_{N/2}\}} \prod_{j=1}^{N/2} l_{\sigma_j}^{n_j} l_{\sigma_{(j+N/2)}}^{n_j+L/2}.$$
(2.71)

Similarly, it is convenient to introduce the summation function

$$B_N(\boldsymbol{l}_N|L) = \prod_{j=1}^{N/2} l_{j+N/2}^{L/2} \sum_{n_1=0}^{L/2-1} \sum_{n_2=0}^{L/2-1} \dots \sum_{n_{N/2}=0}^{L/2-1} \prod_{j=1}^{N/2} \left( l_j l_{j+N/2} \right)^{n_j}.$$
 (2.72)

For the non-compact chain,  $B_N$  can also be computed by a recursion relation, leading to

$$B_N(\boldsymbol{l}_N|L) = \sum_{j=0}^{N/2} B_{N,j}(\boldsymbol{l}_N|L), \qquad (2.73)$$

where

$$B_{N,j}(L) = \frac{(-1)^j \prod_{k=j+1}^{j+N/2} (a_k)^{1/2} \prod_{k=j+N/2+1}^{N} a_k \prod_{k=j+1}^{N/2} (l_k l_{k+N/2})^{N/2-k}}{\prod_{k=j+1}^{N/2} \left(\prod_{i=j+1}^{k} l_i l_{i+N/2} - 1\right) \prod_{k=1}^{j} \left(\prod_{i=k}^{j} l_i l_{i+N/2} - 1\right)}.$$
 (2.74)

The main observation is that, although the summation functions are different, their behavior near the pole  $l_m l_{m+N/2}$  are the same

$$B_{N}(\boldsymbol{l}_{N}|L) \sim \frac{\left(a_{m}a_{m+N/2}\right)^{1/2} - 1}{l_{m}l_{m+N/2} - 1} \left(a_{m+N/2}\right)^{1/2} B_{N-2,m-1}(\{1, \dots, \mathcal{M}, \dots, \mathcal{M}\}|L).$$

$$(2.75)$$

This leads to the same  $\mathbf{F}(l_m, l_{m+N/2})$  function and the same recursion relation for the overlap. As a consequence, we get the crosscap overlap formula

$$\frac{\langle \mathcal{C} | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N \rangle}{\sqrt{\langle \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N \rangle}} = \sqrt{\frac{\det G_{N/2}^+}{\det G_{N/2}^-}}.$$
(2.76)

Before ending the section, let us comment on the universality of the crosscap overlaps. In fact, the key point is the overlaps between crosscap states and N-particle basis gives a product of the Kronecker deltas, which imposes strong constraints on the particle positions. Such constraints reflects the geometric origin of the crosscap state. It effectively reduces the Bethe wave function of N particles to be the one with N/2 particles, except for the replacements  $l_j \rightarrow l_j l_{j+N/2}$ , see (2.45) and (2.72). The overlaps are the sum of Bethe wave functions which satisfy the constraints on the particle positions. For the crosscap constaints, the overlaps turn to be the sum of reduced Bethe wave function of N/2 particles without constraints on the particle positions. After taking the paired rapidities limit, the sum of the reduced Bethe wave functions is actually the norm of the Bethe states except for the replacement of Gaudin-like determinant det  $G_{N/2}^- \rightarrow \det G_{N/2}^+$ , which hence leads to the trivial prefactor for the overlaps.

#### 3 Crosscap state of Lieb-Liniger model

In this section, we present the derivations of our proposal for the crosscap state of the Lieb-Liniger model (1.1). We will then prove its integrability and derive the exact overlap formula.

## 3.1 Crosscap state in Lieb-Liniger model

In the second quantized form, the Hamiltonian of the Lieb-Liniger model is given by

$$H = \int_0^\ell \mathrm{d}x \left[ \partial_x \Phi^\dagger(x) \partial_x \Phi(x) + c \, \Phi^\dagger(x) \Phi^\dagger(x) \Phi(x) \Phi(x) \right], \tag{3.1}$$

where the bosonic fields satisfy the usual commutation relations

$$[\Phi(x), \Phi^{\dagger}(y)] = \delta(x - y), \quad [\Phi(x), \Phi(y)] = [\Phi^{\dagger}(x), \Phi^{\dagger}(y)] = 0.$$
(3.2)

We consider the periodic boundary condition with system size  $\ell$ . This model can be solved by coordinate Bethe ansatz as well as the Quantum Inverse Scattering Method (QISM) [49]. We shall make use of both approaches in what follows. For the proof of integrability, it is more convenient to use QISM, but it is necessary to first define the model on the lattice and then take the continuum limit. For the derivation of exact overlap formula, we make use of coordinate Bethe ansatz.

As mentioned before, Lieb-Liniger model can be obtained by taking continuum limit of integrable lattice models. There are at least two ways to achieve this. The first one is by taking the special continuum limit of the XXZ spin chain after performing the Dyson-Maleev transformation [44]. The second one is taking the continuum limit of a generalized XXX spin chain [46]. Our strategy is staring from the crosscap state in spin chains, and then taking the continuum limit. We consider both approaches, and it turns out that they lead to the same crosscap state in the Lieb-Liniger model.

Method I: Dyson-Maleev transformation. The Dyson-Maleev transformation maps the local spin operators to the bosonic operators

$$S_i^+ = a_i^{\dagger}(1 - a_i^{\dagger}a_i), \quad S_i^- = a_i, \quad S_i^z = -\frac{1}{2} + a_i^{\dagger}a_i,$$
 (3.3)

where the bosonic operators satisfy the canonical commutation relations

$$[a_i, a_j^{\dagger}] = \delta_{ij}, \quad [a_i, a_j] = [a_i^{\dagger}, a_j^{\dagger}] = 0.$$
(3.4)

Applying the transformation to the crosscap state of the XXZ spin chain (2.2), we obtain

$$|\mathcal{C}\rangle = \prod_{j=1}^{L/2} \left( 1 + a_j^{\dagger} a_{j+L/2}^{\dagger} \right) |\Omega\rangle, \qquad (3.5)$$

where we have used the fact

$$a_i |\Omega\rangle = S_i^- |\Omega\rangle = 0. \tag{3.6}$$

Let us consider a XXZ spin chain of length L. We denote the lattice spacing by  $\delta$ . The system size of the continuum model is  $\ell = L\delta$ . The bosonic operators can be written in terms of Fourier modes

$$a_n = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L}} \sum_k e^{-ikx_n} \tilde{a}_k, \quad x_n = n\delta.$$
(3.7)

In this representation, the continuum limit is obtained by

$$\sum_{k} \to \frac{\ell}{2\pi} \int \mathrm{d}k, \qquad \tilde{a}_{k} \to \left(\frac{2\pi}{\ell}\right)^{1/2} \tilde{\Phi}_{k}. \tag{3.8}$$

Then one transforms back to real space by the inverse Fourier transformation

$$\tilde{\Phi}_k = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int \mathrm{d}x \, e^{ikx} \Phi(x), \quad k = \frac{2\pi m}{\ell}. \tag{3.9}$$

Applying above procedure to (3.5), we arrive at the crosscap state

$$|\mathcal{C}\rangle = \exp\left(\int_0^{\ell/2} dx \Phi^{\dagger}(x) \Phi^{\dagger}(x+\ell/2)\right) |\Omega\rangle, \qquad (3.10)$$

where we assume the pseudovacuum in spin chain corresponds to the Fock vacuum  $|\Omega\rangle$  of the Lieb-Liniger model in the continuum limit. Details of the derivation can be found in appendix B.

Method II: generalized XXX model. In this approach, we first discretize the Lieb-Liniger model by picking L points on the interval  $[0, \ell]$  located at  $x_n = \Delta n, x_L = \ell$  [46]. We then define the operators

$$\psi_n = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\Delta}} \int_{x_{n-1}}^{x_n} \Phi(x) \, \mathrm{d}x, \quad \psi_n^{\dagger} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\Delta}} \int_{x_{n-1}}^{x_n} \Phi^{\dagger}(x) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$
(3.11)

One can check the operators satisfy

$$[\psi_n, \psi_m^{\dagger}] = \delta_{mn}, \quad [\psi_n, \psi_m] = [\psi_n^{\dagger}, \psi_m^{\dagger}] = 0.$$
 (3.12)

In the lattice model, the pseudovacuum is identified with the Fock vacuum which satisfies

$$\Phi(x)|0\rangle = \psi_n|0\rangle = 0. \tag{3.13}$$

The quantum Lax operator takes the form

$$L_n(u) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 - \frac{iu\Delta}{2} + \frac{c\Delta}{2}\psi_n^{\dagger}\psi_n & -i\sqrt{c\Delta}\psi_n^{\dagger}\rho_n^+ \\ i\sqrt{c\Delta}\rho_n^-\psi_n & 1 + \frac{iu\Delta}{2} + \frac{c\Delta}{2}\psi_n^{\dagger}\psi_n \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.14)

where the operator  $\rho_n^{\pm}$  satisfy two constraints:

$$\rho_n^{\pm} = \rho_n^{\pm} \left( \psi_n^{\dagger} \psi_n \right), \quad \rho_n^{+} \rho_n^{-} = 1 + \frac{c\Delta}{4} \psi_n^{\dagger} \psi_n. \tag{3.15}$$

For example, we can take

$$\rho_n^- = 1, \qquad \rho_n^+ = 1 + \frac{c\Delta}{4} \psi_n^\dagger \psi_n.$$
 (3.16)

The transfer matrix is defined as usual

$$T(u) = tr(L_1(u)L_2(u)\dots L_L(u)).$$
 (3.17)

In order to define the crosscap state for the discretized Lieb-Liniger model, we make use of the fact that it is closely related to the *generalized* XXX spin chain [46, 50]. This can be seen easily by the following transformation of the Lax operator

$$\tilde{L}_n(u) = \sigma_3 \sigma_2 L_n(u) \sigma_2 = \frac{i\Delta}{2} u \mathbf{1} \otimes \mathbf{1} + \frac{c\Delta}{2} \left[ \tilde{S}_n^z \otimes \sigma^3 - \left( \tilde{S}_n^+ \otimes \sigma^- + \tilde{S}_n^- \otimes \sigma^+ \right) \right], \quad (3.18)$$

where we have introduced

$$\tilde{S}_n^z = \frac{2}{c\Delta} + \psi_n^{\dagger} \psi_n, \quad \tilde{S}_n^- = \frac{2i}{\sqrt{c\Delta}} \rho_n^- \psi_n, \quad \tilde{S}_n^+ = \frac{2i}{\sqrt{c\Delta}} \psi_n^{\dagger} \rho_n^+.$$
(3.19)

One can verify that they satisfy the standard SU(2) algebra

$$\left[\tilde{S}_n^z, \tilde{S}_n^{\pm}\right] = \pm \tilde{S}_n^{\pm}, \quad \left[\tilde{S}_n^+, \tilde{S}_n^-\right] = 2\tilde{S}_n^z. \tag{3.20}$$

The local spin operators act on the vacuum as following

$$\tilde{S}_{n}^{-}|\Omega\rangle = 0, \quad \tilde{S}_{n}^{+}|\Omega\rangle = \psi_{n}^{\dagger}|\Omega\rangle, \quad \tilde{S}_{n}^{z}|\Omega\rangle = \frac{2}{c\Delta}|\Omega\rangle.$$
 (3.21)

For the generalized XXX spin chain, we can define the crosscap state using the local spin operators  $\tilde{S}$ 

$$|\mathcal{C}\rangle = \prod_{n=1}^{L/2} \left( 1 + \tilde{S}_n^+ \tilde{S}_{n+\frac{L}{2}}^+ \right) |\Omega\rangle.$$
(3.22)

We then show that the crosscap state so defined is integrable in the sense of (2.7). Firstly, one can verify

$$\sigma_2 \tilde{L}_n(u) \sigma_2 |c\rangle\rangle_n = -\tilde{L}_{n+L/2}(-u) |c\rangle\rangle_n \,. \tag{3.23}$$

It follows that

$$\sigma_2 L_n(u) \sigma_2 |c\rangle\rangle_n = L_{n+L/2}(-u) |c\rangle\rangle_n.$$
(3.24)

Then we have

$$T(u)|\mathcal{C}\rangle = \langle \mathcal{C}|\mathrm{tr}\left[\left(L_{1}(u)\dots L_{L/2}(u)\right)\left(L_{L/2+1}(u)\dots L_{L}(u)\right)\right]$$
  
$$= \langle \mathcal{C}|\mathrm{tr}\left[\left(L_{1}(u)\dots L_{L/2}(u)\right)\left(\sigma_{2}L_{1}(-u)\dots L_{L/2}(-u)\sigma_{2}\right)\right]$$
  
$$= \langle \mathcal{C}|\mathrm{tr}\left[\left(L_{1}(-u)\dots L_{L/2}(-u)\right)\left(\sigma_{2}L_{1}(u)\dots L_{L/2}(u)\sigma_{2}\right)\right]$$
  
$$= \langle \mathcal{C}|\mathrm{tr}\left[\left(L_{1}(-u)\dots L_{L/2}(-u)\right)\left(L_{L/2+1}(-u)\dots L_{L}(-u)\right)\right]$$
  
$$= T(-u)|\mathcal{C}\rangle.$$
(3.25)

In the continuum limit, we expect the crosscap state becomes an integrable boundary state for the Lieb-Liniger model. The continuum version of the crosscap states can be obtained

$$|\mathcal{C}\rangle \equiv \prod_{n=1}^{L/2} \left( 1 + \tilde{S}_n^+ \tilde{S}_{n+\frac{L}{2}}^+ \right) |\Omega\rangle \to \exp\left(\int_0^{\ell/2} \mathrm{d}x \,\Phi^\dagger(x) \Phi^\dagger(x+\ell/2)\right) |\Omega\rangle. \tag{3.26}$$

Details about taking the continuum limit can be found in appendix B. The resulting state is indeed the same as the result from the first method.

Two comments about the crosscap state are in order.

• By expanding the exponential function, we can write the crosscap state as

$$|\mathcal{C}\rangle = \sum_{N=0}^{\infty} |\mathcal{C}_{2N}\rangle,$$
 (3.27)

where the 2N-particle state is given by

$$|\mathcal{C}_{2N}\rangle = \int_T \mathrm{d}^N x \prod_{j=1}^N \Phi^{\dagger}(x_j) \Phi^{\dagger}(x_j + \ell/2) |\Omega\rangle.$$
(3.28)

The factor 1/N! from the exponential is dropped because we have fixed the order of particle position  $T: 0 \le x_1 < x_2 < \ldots < x_N \le \ell/2$ . The crosscap state is a superposition state of even number of particles. Therefore, the crosscap state can have non-vanishing overlaps with Bethe states with any even number of particles.

• The crosscap state for Lieb-Liniger model can also be written in momentum space by performing a Fourier transformation

$$|\mathcal{C}\rangle = \exp\left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\sum_{m,n}K_{mn}\xi_m^{\dagger}\xi_n^{\dagger}\right)|\Omega\rangle, \quad K_{mn} = \frac{(-1)^m - (-1)^n}{m+n}, \quad (3.29)$$

where we used

$$\Phi(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\ell}} \sum_{q} e^{iqx} \xi_q, \qquad q = \frac{2\pi m}{\ell}.$$
(3.30)

This formula is similar to the boundary state in integrable quantum field theory, and the coefficient  $K_{mn}$  plays the role of two-particle boundary amplitudes [1].

#### 3.2 Exact overlap formula

In this subsection, we will derive the overlap of the crosscap state and an on-shell Bethe state using the coordinate Bethe ansatz. This method has been applied in the calculating the overlap of the BEC state and Bethe state in Lieb-Liniger model [29].

Using coordinate Bethe ansatz, the eigenstate is given by

$$|\boldsymbol{\lambda}_N\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N!}} \int_0^\ell \mathrm{d}^N x \,\chi_N\left(\boldsymbol{x}_N | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N\right) \Phi^{\dagger}\left(x_1\right) \dots \Phi^{\dagger}\left(x_N\right) |\Omega\rangle, \qquad (3.31)$$

where  $|\Omega\rangle$  is the Fock vacuum of the Lieb-Liniger model. The wave function is

$$\chi_N(\boldsymbol{x}_N|\boldsymbol{\lambda}_N) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N!}} \sum_{\sigma \in S_N} \prod_{j>k} \left[ \frac{\lambda_{\sigma_j} - \lambda_{\sigma_k} - ic\epsilon(x_j - x_k)}{\lambda_{\sigma_j} - \lambda_{\sigma_k}} \right] \exp\left(i\sum_{n=1}^N x_n \lambda_{\sigma_n}\right), \quad (3.32)$$

where  $\epsilon$  is the sign function. We consider the configuration space

$$T: 0 \le x_1 < x_2 < \ldots < x_N \le \ell \,. \tag{3.33}$$

Introducing

$$f(\lambda) = \frac{\lambda - ic}{\lambda}, \qquad l_j = e^{i\lambda_j},$$
 (3.34)

we can write the wave function as

$$\chi_N(\boldsymbol{x}_N|\boldsymbol{\lambda}_N) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{N!}} \sum_{\sigma \in S_N} \prod_{j>k} f(\lambda_{\sigma_j} - \lambda_{\sigma_k}) \prod_{n=1}^N l_{\sigma_n}^{x_n}.$$
 (3.35)

Similar to the spin chain, the norm of an on-shell Bethe state is given by the Gaudin determinant

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N \rangle = \prod_{j>k} f\left(\lambda_j - \lambda_k\right) f\left(\lambda_k - \lambda_j\right) \det G_N,\tag{3.36}$$

where the Gaudin matrix elements are

$$G_{jk} = \delta_{jk} \left( \ell + \sum_{l=1}^{N} \varphi \left( \lambda_j - \lambda_l \right) \right) - \varphi \left( \lambda_j - \lambda_k \right), \qquad (3.37)$$

with

$$\varphi(\lambda) = \frac{2c}{\lambda^2 + c^2}.$$
(3.38)

If the rapidities are paired, the norm factorizes

$$\langle \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N \rangle = \prod_{j=1}^{N/2} f(2\lambda_j) f(-2\lambda_j) \prod_{1 \le j < k \le N/2} \left[ \bar{f}(\lambda_j, \lambda_k) \right]^2 \det G_{N/2}^+ \det G_{N/2}^-, \qquad (3.39)$$

where

$$G_{jk}^{\pm} = \delta_{jk} \left( \ell + \sum_{l=1}^{N/2} \varphi^+ \left( \lambda_j, \lambda_l \right) \right) - \varphi^{\pm} \left( \lambda_j, \lambda_k \right), \qquad (3.40)$$

$$\varphi^{\pm}(\lambda,\mu) = \varphi(\lambda-\mu) \pm \varphi(\lambda+\mu), \qquad (3.41)$$

$$\bar{f}(\lambda,\mu) = f(\lambda-\mu)f(\lambda+\mu)f(-\lambda-\mu)f(-\lambda+\mu).$$
(3.42)

Let us first consider the overlap of the crosscap state and an N-particle state basis state given by

$$|\boldsymbol{x}_N\rangle = \Phi^{\dagger}(x_1)\dots\Phi^{\dagger}(x_N)|\Omega\rangle.$$
(3.43)

From the definition of crosscap state (3.10), we find

$$\langle \mathcal{C} | \boldsymbol{x}_N \rangle = \prod_{j=1}^{N/2} \delta(x_{j+N/2} - x_j - \ell/2).$$
 (3.44)

The overlap of the crosscap state and a Bethe states can be computed as

$$\langle \mathcal{C} | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N \rangle = \int_T \mathrm{d}^N x \, \langle \mathcal{C} | \boldsymbol{x}_N \rangle \, \langle \boldsymbol{x}_N | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N \rangle$$

$$= \int_T \mathrm{d}^N x \prod_{j=1}^{N/2} \delta(x_{j+N/2} - x_j - \ell/2) \chi_N \left( \boldsymbol{x}_N | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N \right)$$

$$= \sum_{\sigma \in S_N} \prod_{j>k} f(\lambda_{\sigma_j} - \lambda_{\sigma_k}) B_N(\sigma \boldsymbol{l}_N | \ell),$$

$$(3.45)$$

where the integral region T is defined in (3.33), the function  $B_N(l_N|\ell)$  is given by

$$B_N(\boldsymbol{l}_N|\boldsymbol{\ell}) = \left(\prod_{n=1}^{N/2} l_n^{\ell/2}\right) \int_0^{\ell/2} dx_{N/2} \int_0^{x_{N/2}} dx_{N/2-1} \cdots \int_0^{x_2} dx_1 \prod_{j=1}^{N/2} (l_j l_{j+N/2})^{x_j}.$$
 (3.46)

Following the strategy used in spin chain, we can calculate the overlap. The mainly difference is that the particle position is continuous and the summations become integrals.

For the 2-particle states, one can compute the integral exactly

$$B_2(\boldsymbol{l}_2|\ell) = ia_2^{1/2} \frac{(a_1 a_2)^{1/2} - 1}{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2}.$$
(3.47)

The overlap reads

$$\langle \mathcal{C} | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2 \rangle = i f(l_2, l_1) a_2^{1/2} \frac{(a_1 a_2)^{1/2} - 1}{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2} + i f(l_1, l_2) a_1^{1/2} \frac{(a_1 a_2)^{1/2} - 1}{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2}.$$
 (3.48)

Similar to the spin chain case, we first take the paired rapidity limit

$$\lambda_2 \to -\lambda_1 \,, \tag{3.49}$$

which leads to the result

$$\langle \mathcal{C} | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_2 \rangle = -\ell \sqrt{f(-2\lambda_1)f(2\lambda_1)} = \sqrt{f(-2\lambda_1)f(2\lambda_1)} \det G_1^+.$$
(3.50)

For the N-particle states, we have

$$B_N(\boldsymbol{l}_N|\ell) = \sum_{j=0}^{N/2} B_{N,j}(\boldsymbol{l}_N|\ell), \qquad (3.51)$$

where

$$B_{N,j}(\boldsymbol{l}_N|\ell) = (-1)^j \frac{\prod_{k=j+1}^{j+N/2} a_k^{1/2} \prod_{k=j+N/2+1}^N a_k}{\left(\prod_{k=j+1}^{N/2} \sum_{i=j+1}^k i \left(\lambda_i + \lambda_{i+N/2}\right)\right) \left(\prod_{k=1}^j \sum_{i=k}^j i \left(\lambda_i + \lambda_{i+N/2}\right)\right)}.$$
 (3.52)

By investigating the behavior of  $B_N(l_N|\ell)$  near the pole  $\lambda_m + \lambda_{m+N/2} = 0$ , we find that

$$B_{N}(\boldsymbol{l}_{N}|\ell) \sim \frac{\left(a_{m}a_{m+N/2}\right)^{1/2} - 1}{i(\lambda_{m} + \lambda_{m+N/2})} \left(a_{m+N/2}\right)^{1/2} B_{N-2,m-1}(\{1, \dots, m+N/2, \dots, N\}|\ell).$$
(3.53)

Interestingly, this relation is exactly the same as the one for Heisenberg spin chain (2.49). Following the same steps in spin chain model, one can obtain the overlap

$$\langle \mathcal{C} | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N \rangle = \prod_{j=1}^{N/2} \sqrt{f(2\lambda_j) f(-2\lambda_j)} \prod_{1 \le j < k \le N/2} \bar{f}(\lambda_j, \lambda_k) \times \det G_{N/2}^+$$
(3.54)

Dividing by the norm of Bethe state (3.39), we finally arrive at the normalized overlap

$$\frac{\langle \mathcal{C} | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N \rangle}{\sqrt{\langle \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N | \boldsymbol{\lambda}_N \rangle}} = \sqrt{\frac{\det G_{N/2}^+}{\det G_{N/2}^-}}.$$
(3.55)

We find that indeed the prefactor is again trivial.

## 3.3 Crosscap partition function

In [33], the crosscap overlaps in IQFTs was obtained by studying the partition function on a cylinder and contract the two ends with the crosscap states, which is related to the Klein bottle partition function. For the Lieb-Liniger model, an analogous quantity is the so-called return amplitude, or Loschmidt amplitude. For a generic initial state, the Loschmidt amplitude is defined by

$$\mathscr{L}(\omega) = \langle \Psi_0 | e^{-\omega H} | \Psi_0 \rangle, \qquad (3.56)$$

where  $\omega$  is a complex number. This quantity plays an important role in the study of quench dynamics and for integrable spin chains it can be computed analytically [51, 52]. Now taking  $|\Psi_0\rangle = |\mathcal{C}\rangle$  and  $\omega = R$  to be a real number, we can define

$$\mathscr{L}_{\mathcal{C}}(R) = \langle \mathcal{C} | e^{-RH} | \mathcal{C} \rangle.$$
(3.57)

Using the expansion (3.27) and noticing that particle number is conserved, we can equivalently write  $\mathscr{L}_{\mathcal{C}}(\omega)$  as

$$\mathscr{L}_{\mathcal{C}}(R) = \sum_{N=0}^{\infty} \langle \mathcal{C}_{2N} | e^{-RH} | \mathcal{C}_{2N} \rangle = \operatorname{Tr} \left[ \Pi_c \, e^{-RH} \right], \qquad \Pi_c = \sum_{N=0}^{\infty} | \mathcal{C}_{2N} \rangle \langle \mathcal{C}_{2N} |. \tag{3.58}$$

The right hand side of (3.58) takes a very similar form to the Klein bottle partition function of IQFT. Inserting a complete set of Bethe states in (3.58) and using the exact overlap formula (3.55), we obtain

$$\mathscr{L}_{\mathcal{C}}(R) = \sum_{N=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\{\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{2N}\}} e^{-RE(\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{2N})} \frac{\det G_N^+}{\det G_N^-}.$$
(3.59)

This is almost the same as a thermal partition function, except for the overlaps. In the thermodynamic limit  $\ell \to \infty$ , the ratio of Gaudin-like determinant tends to 1. In this case, the only difference between  $\mathscr{L}_{\mathcal{C}}(R)$  and the thermal partition function is that the Bethe roots should be parity even, which agrees exactly with the proposal for crosscap states in IQFT [33].

In the thermodynamic limit  $\ell \to \infty$  and  $N \to \infty$  with fixed the particle density  $D = N/\ell$ , we can compute  $\mathscr{L}_{\mathcal{C}}(R)$  by thermodynamic Bethe ansatz (TBA) [53], or the quench action approach [54] in this context. The only modification from the standard TBA is that one should impose the parity even condition on the Bethe roots. In this limit, the sum of Bethe roots becomes a path integral over the distribution density

$$Z_{2N} \equiv \langle \mathcal{C}_{2N} | e^{-RH} | \mathcal{C}_{2N} \rangle = \int \mathcal{D}[\rho] e^{-2S_o[\rho] + S_{YY}[\rho] - RE[\rho] + h\ell \left[ D - \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\lambda \rho(\lambda) \right]}.$$
 (3.60)

The  $S_o[\rho]$  comes from the extensive part of the logarithm of the overlaps, or the prefactors in the exact overlap formula. For the crosscap states, however, the prefactor is trivial and hence  $S_o[\rho] = 0$ .  $S_{YY}[\rho]$  is the Yang-Yang entropy given by

$$S_{\rm YY}[\rho] = \ell \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\lambda \left[ (\rho + \rho^h) \ln(\rho + \rho^h) - \rho \ln \rho - \rho^h \ln \rho^h \right].$$
(3.61)

The hole density  $\rho^h$  is related to the Bethe root density  $\rho$  through

$$\rho(\lambda) + \rho^h(\lambda) = \frac{1}{2\pi} + \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\mu}{2\pi} \varphi(\lambda - \mu) \rho(\mu), \qquad (3.62)$$

where the integral kernel is given by (3.38). The energy for a given distribution  $\rho$  is

$$E[\rho] = \ell \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\lambda \rho(\lambda) \lambda^2.$$
(3.63)

The chemical potential h is introduced for the normalization of  $\rho(\lambda)$ . In addition, one should note the distribution  $\rho(\lambda)$  should be an even function because of the parity even condition.

The functional integral can be evaluated by using the saddle point approximation. The saddle point equation is just the Yang-Yang equation

$$\epsilon(\lambda) = \epsilon_0(\lambda) - \frac{1}{R} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\mu}{2\pi} \varphi(\lambda - \mu) \log\left(1 + e^{-R\epsilon(\mu)}\right), \qquad (3.64)$$

where

$$\frac{\rho(\lambda)}{\rho_h(\lambda)} = e^{-R\epsilon(\lambda)}, \quad \epsilon_0(\lambda) = \lambda^2 - h.$$
(3.65)

It is known that distributions are the even functions for the cases of  $c \to \infty$  and  $c \to 0$  [53], which correspond to the free Fermi gas and free Bose gas respectively. These solutions still hold for the crosscap partition functions. For the limit  $R \to 0$ , which corresponds to the high temperature limit in the standard TBA, the solution of saddle point equation is given by the uniform distribution

$$\rho(\lambda) = \frac{1}{8\pi}, \qquad \rho_h(\lambda) = \frac{1}{4\pi}. \tag{3.66}$$

#### 4 Dynamical correlation functions in crosscap state

In the study of out-of-equilibrium dynamics, it is of central importance to compute the time evolution of operators in a given initial state  $\langle \Psi_0 | \mathcal{O}(t) | \Psi_0 \rangle$ . Even for integrable models, an exact computation of this quantity is a highly challenging task. For the Lieb-Liniger model, the full time dependence of dynamical correlation functions is only known for very limited cases in the Tonks-Girardeau limit  $c \to \infty$  [41, 55]. In this section, we study the dynamical correlation functions in crosscap state of Lieb-Liniger model, namely we compute correlation functions of the form  $\langle \mathcal{C} | \mathcal{O}(t) | \mathcal{C} \rangle$ . We obtain analytic results in the Tonks-Girardeau limit.

In the  $c \to \infty$  limit, the model describes the hard-core boson, which behaves like a fermion since the infinite repulsion acts as an effective Pauli principle. Let us denote the hard-core bosonic field as  $\tilde{\Phi}(x)$ . They obey the usual equal time bosonic commutation relations. The hard-core constraint is imposed by the additional algebraic relations

$$[\tilde{\Phi}(x)]^2 = [\tilde{\Phi}^{\dagger}(x)]^2 = 0, \quad \{\tilde{\Phi}(x), \tilde{\Phi}^{\dagger}(x)\} = 1.$$
(4.1)

The non-linear relation between the canonical bosons and hard-core bosons are given by

$$\tilde{\Phi}^{\dagger}(x) = \mathcal{P}_x \Phi^{\dagger}(x) \mathcal{P}_x, \quad \mathcal{P}_x = |0\rangle \langle 0|_x + |1\rangle \langle 1|_x , \qquad (4.2)$$

where  $P_x$  is the local projector on the truncated Hilbert with at most one boson at x. The hard-core bosons are also related to the free fermions via the Jordan-Wigner transformation

$$\Psi(x) = \exp\left[i\pi \int_0^x \mathrm{d}z \,\tilde{\Phi}^{\dagger}(z)\tilde{\Phi}(z)\right]\tilde{\Phi}(x),\tag{4.3}$$

with the anti-commutation relation

$$\{\Psi(x), \Psi(y)\} = \{\Psi^{\dagger}(x), \Psi^{\dagger}(y)\} = 0, \quad \{\Psi(x), \Psi^{\dagger}(y)\} = \delta(x-y).$$
(4.4)

The Jordan-Wigner transformation also maps the hard-core bosonic Hamiltonian to the one describes free fermions. In momentum space, we have

$$H = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} k^2 \eta_k^{\dagger} \eta_k, \quad \eta_k = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\ell}} \int_0^{\ell} dx e^{-ikx} \Psi(x), \quad k = \frac{2\pi m}{\ell}.$$
 (4.5)

The time evolution of the fermionic operator is given by [55]

$$\eta_k(t) = e^{iHt} \eta_k e^{-iHt} = e^{-ik^2 t/2} \eta_k.$$
(4.6)

Therefore, the time-dependent becomes an overall factor in the Tonks-Girardeau limit, and the dynamical correlation functions can be computed analytically.

In what follows, we first consider the fermionic two-point and four-point functions. By taking the equal time limit, we obtain the density correlation functions, where the fermionic density is defined as

$$\hat{\rho}(x,t) = \Psi^{\dagger}(x,t)\Psi(x,t). \tag{4.7}$$

Note that the bosonic two-point correlation function is different from the fermionic two-point correlation function because it contains an infinite strings of fermionic operators, and the fermionic multi-point function can not factorize into two-point functions. However, the fermionic density-density correlation function becomes factorizable in the crosscap state.

#### 4.1 Two-point function

The two-point function can be expressed as

$$\langle \Psi^{\dagger}(x_1, t_1)\Psi(x_2, t_2)\rangle_{\mathcal{C}} = \frac{1}{\ell} \sum_{k_1, k_2} e^{-i(k_1x_1 - k_1^2 t_1 - k_2x_2 + k_2^2 t_2)} \langle \eta_{k_1}^{\dagger} \eta_{k_2} \rangle_{\mathcal{C}}, \tag{4.8}$$

where we used the following notation

$$\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle_{\mathcal{C}} = \frac{\langle \mathcal{C} | \mathcal{O} | \mathcal{C} \rangle}{\langle \mathcal{C} | \mathcal{C} \rangle}.$$
 (4.9)

So we need to evaluate the time-independent fermionic two-point correlation

$$\langle \eta_{k_1}^{\dagger} \eta_{k_2} \rangle_{\mathcal{C}} = \frac{1}{\ell} \int_0^{\ell} dz_1 dz_2 e^{ik_1 z_1 - ik_2 z_2} \langle \Psi^{\dagger}(z_1) \Psi(z_2) \rangle_{\mathcal{C}}.$$
(4.10)

The fermionic two-point function  $\langle \Psi^{\dagger}(z_1)\Psi(z_2)\rangle_{\mathcal{C}}$  can be transformed to the hard-core bosonic correlation function by the Jordan-Wigner transformation (4.3). But the crosscap state is defined by the canonical boson operator, which is related to the hard-core boson through the projection (4.2). Handling the projector in the continuous Lieb-liniger model is somewhat subtle. On the other hand, in the lattice version, the crosscap state is already defined in the truncated Hilbert space. Therefore, we will first calculate the two-point fermionic function in lattice model then take the continuum limit, this strategy was also taken for the computation of correlation functions in the BEC state [41, 55].

We consider a one-dimensional lattice model of L sites with lattice spacing  $\delta$  and define the lattice operators as follows

$$b_m = \sqrt{\delta} \Phi(m\delta), \quad a_m = \sqrt{\delta} \tilde{\Phi}(m\delta), \quad c_m = \sqrt{\delta} \Psi(m\delta).$$
 (4.11)

The canonical bosons are denoted as  $b_i, b_i^{\dagger}$ , which are related to hard-core boson through

$$a_i = P_i b_i P_i, \quad a_i^{\dagger} = P_i b_i^{\dagger} P_i, \tag{4.12}$$

where  $P_i = |0\rangle\langle 0|_i + |1\rangle\langle 1|_i$  is the on-site projector on the truncated Hilbert space. They satisfy the following (anti)commutation relations

$$[a_i, a_j] = [a_i^{\dagger}, a_j^{\dagger}] = [a_i, a_j^{\dagger}] = 0, \qquad i \neq j$$
(4.13)

$$a_i^2 = (a_i^{\dagger})^2 = 0,$$
  $\{a_i, a_i^{\dagger}\} = 1.$  (4.14)

The Jordan-Wigner transformation in the lattice model becomes

$$c_{i} = e^{i\pi \sum_{j < i} a_{j}^{\dagger} a_{j}} a_{i} = \prod_{j < i} \left( 1 - 2a_{j}^{\dagger} a_{j} \right) a_{i}, \qquad (4.15)$$

where the  $c_i, c_i^{\dagger}$  are the free fermion operators. Since the crosscap state is already defined in the truncated Hilbert space, we can replace the hard-core boson by the canonical boson. The

lattice version of the fermionic two-point function can be calculated using the commutation relations of the bosonic operators, see appendix C. The result turns out to be simply

$$\langle c_r^{\dagger} c_s \rangle_{\mathcal{C}} = \frac{1}{2} \delta_{r,s}. \tag{4.16}$$

In the continuum limit, this leads to the two-point time-independent fermionic correlation function

$$\langle \Psi^{\dagger}(x)\Psi(y)\rangle_{\mathcal{C}} = \frac{1}{2}\delta(x-y).$$
 (4.17)

Finally, we compute the time dependent two-point correlation function using (4.8), where we have taken the limit  $\ell \to \infty$ , the momentum sum becomes integrals and the final result is

$$\langle \Psi^{\dagger}(x_1, t_1)\Psi(x_2, t_2)\rangle_{\mathcal{C}} = \frac{1}{2\pi}G(x_{12}, t_{12}).$$
 (4.18)

Here we have introduced the notation  $x_{ij} = x_i - x_j$ ,  $t_{ij} = t_i - t_j$ . The function G(x, t) is the solution of 1D diffusion equation given by

$$G(x,t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{dk}{2\pi} e^{-ikx + ik^2t} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{-i\pi t}} e^{-\frac{ix^2}{4t}}.$$
(4.19)

The two-point correlation function is translation invariant, which just depends on the distance between two points. We can also compute the dynamical structure factor as the double Fourier transform of the two-point correlation function in  $x_{12}$  and  $t_{12}$ . The result is simply

$$S(p,\omega) = 2\delta\left(\omega - p^2\right). \tag{4.20}$$

Apart from the delta function which simply imposes the massive non-relativistic dispersion relation, the result is a constant.

Then the density one-point function can be obtained by taking the limit  $t_2 \rightarrow t_1, x_2 \rightarrow x_1$ , which leads to

$$\langle \hat{\rho}(x,t) \rangle_{\mathcal{C}} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \delta(0). \tag{4.21}$$

The fermionic density expectation value in crosscap state is time-independent but divergent. This result can be interpreted as follows. The time-independence indicates that the density does not evolve. In fact, applying the quench action approach, we find that the driving term which usually comes from prefactor is vanishing for the crosscap state. Hence the quench action coincides with the Yang-Yang entropy, and the state tends to maximize the entropy, which is given by the uniform distribution. The situation is similar to an infinite temperature thermal partition function. At the same time, the crosscap state is given by a superposition state with arbitrary even number of particles, so that the particle number density is divergent.

## 4.2 Four-point function

We then consider the four-point function, which can be written as

$$\langle \Psi^{\dagger}(x_{1},t_{1})\Psi(x_{2},t_{2})\Psi^{\dagger}(x_{3},t_{3})\Psi(x_{4},t_{4})\rangle_{\mathcal{C}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\ell^{2}} \sum_{k_{1},k_{2},k_{3},k_{4}} e^{-i\left(k_{1}x_{1}-k_{2}x_{2}+k_{3}x_{3}-k_{4}x_{4}-k_{1}^{2}t_{1}+k_{2}^{2}t_{2}-k_{3}^{2}t_{3}+k_{4}^{2}t_{4}\right)} \langle \eta^{\dagger}_{k_{1}}\eta_{k_{2}}\eta^{\dagger}_{k_{3}}\eta_{k_{4}}\rangle_{\mathcal{C}}.$$

$$(4.22)$$

So we need to evaluate the initial fermionic four-point correlation function

$$\langle \eta_{k_1}^{\dagger} \eta_{k_2} \eta_{k_3}^{\dagger} \eta_{k_4} \rangle_{\mathcal{C}} = \frac{1}{\ell^2} \int_0^{\ell} \mathrm{d}z_1 \mathrm{d}z_2 \mathrm{d}z_3 \mathrm{d}z_4 e^{i(k_1 z_1 - k_2 z_2 + k_3 z_3 - k_4 z_4)} \\ \times \langle \Psi^{\dagger}(z_1) \Psi(z_2) \Psi^{\dagger}(z_3) \Psi(z_4) \rangle_{\mathcal{C}}.$$

$$(4.23)$$

The main ingredient is the four-point function in crosscap state. We first compute the corresponding four-point function in the lattice model using the same technique for the two-point function, then taking the continuum limit. In the lattice model, we need to compute the four-point function  $\langle c_k^{\dagger} c_l c_m^{\dagger} c_j \rangle_{\mathcal{C}}$ . We divide the four operators into two neighbouring pairs and then use Jordan-Wigner transformation on each pairs. The final result can be obtained using the commutation relation of hard-core bosonic operators. We just consider the operators are in the order  $k \leq l \leq m \leq j$ . For the other orders of k, l, m, j, one can also obtain the same formula up to a sign. The detail calculation is given in appendix C, which leads to the result

$$\langle c_k^{\dagger} c_l c_m^{\dagger} c_j \rangle_{\mathcal{C}} = \frac{1}{4} \delta_{k,l} \delta_{m,j} + \frac{1}{4} \delta_{k,l} \delta_{m,j} \delta_{l,m} + \frac{1}{4} \delta_{k,l} \delta_{m,j} \delta_{l,m-L/2}.$$
(4.24)

In the continuum limit, we have

$$\langle \Psi^{\dagger}(z_1)\Psi(z_2)\Psi^{\dagger}(z_3)\Psi(z_4)\rangle_{\mathcal{C}}$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{4}\delta(z_2-z_1)\delta(z_4-z_3)\Big(1+\delta(z_3-z_2)+\delta(z_3-z_2-\ell/2)\Big).$ (4.25)

Plugging into (4.22), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \langle \Psi^{\dagger}(x_{1},t_{1})\Psi(x_{2},t_{2})\Psi^{\dagger}(x_{3},t_{3})\Psi(x_{4},t_{4})\rangle_{\mathcal{C}} \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{2\pi}\right)^{2}G(x_{12},t_{12})G(x_{34},t_{34}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{16\pi}\sqrt{\frac{\tau}{i\pi t_{1}t_{2}t_{3}t_{4}}}\frac{G\left(x_{23},\frac{\tau}{t_{1}t_{4}}\right)G\left(x_{14},\frac{\tau}{t_{2}t_{3}}\right)G\left(x_{34},\frac{\tau}{t_{1}t_{2}}\right)G\left(x_{12},\frac{\tau}{t_{3}t_{4}}\right)}{G\left(x_{24},\frac{\tau}{t_{1}t_{3}}\right)G\left(x_{13},\frac{\tau}{t_{2}t_{4}}\right)} \\ &+ \frac{1}{16\pi}\sqrt{\frac{\tau}{i\pi t_{1}t_{2}t_{3}t_{4}}}\frac{G\left(x_{23}+\frac{\ell}{2},\frac{\tau}{t_{1}t_{4}}\right)G\left(x_{14}+\frac{\ell}{2},\frac{\tau}{t_{2}t_{3}}\right)G\left(x_{34},\frac{\tau}{t_{1}t_{2}}\right)G\left(x_{12},\frac{\tau}{t_{3}t_{4}}\right)}{G\left(x_{24}+\frac{\ell}{2},\frac{\tau}{t_{1}t_{3}}\right)G\left(x_{13}+\frac{\ell}{2},\frac{\tau}{t_{2}t_{4}}\right)}, \quad (4.26) \end{split}$$

where we have defined

$$\tau = t_1 t_2 t_{34} + t_{12} t_3 t_4. \tag{4.27}$$

We are interested in the density-density correlation function, which can be obtain from the four-point function by taking  $t_2 \rightarrow t_1, t_4 \rightarrow t_3, x_2 \rightarrow x_1, x_4 \rightarrow x_3$ . In this case, the last two terms in (4.26) become vanishing. The leading order is the first term, the result shows the dynamical density-density correlation function is

$$\langle \rho(x_1, t_1) \rho(x_3, t_3) \rangle_{\mathcal{C}} = \left(\frac{1}{2\pi}\right)^2 \delta^2(0),$$
 (4.28)

which is also time-independent but divergent. This result coincides with the product of two fermionic density expectation value in crosscap state, which means the density-density correlation function is factorizable. We learn that the density operator expectation and density-density correlator are time-independent, which is quite different from the general case. For the BEC state, the density-density correlator is time-dependent, but it becomes a stationary one for the late time limit [41].

## 5 Conclusion and discussion

In this paper, we derived a number of new results for crosscap states of both integrable spin chains and the Lieb-Liniger model. For spin chains, we generalized the proof of the integrability of crosscap state to anisotropic and inhomogeneous Heisenberg spin chain. We proved the exact overlap formula of crosscap states and on-shell Bethe states using coordinate Bethe ansatz for both compact and non-compact spin chains.

We constructed the crosscap state (1.1) for Lieb-Liniger model. This is achieved by taking the proper continuum limits of spin chain models. We provided two methods to derive the crosscap state in Lieb-Liniger model, which lead to the same result. The integrability of the crosscap state is proved after discretizing the Lieb-Liniger model. The crosscap state has non-vanishing overlaps with any 2N-particle Bethe states if the Bethe roots are paired. We derived the exact overlap formula of the crosscap state and Bethe states, which is simply given by the ratio of two Gaudin-like determinants, with a trivial prefactor — the same as in IQFTs and spin chains. These results indicate certain universality of the crosscap overlaps. We considered the Loschmidt echo of the crosscap state. In the thermodynamic limit, it coincides with the thermal partition function with the parity even condition on the Bethe roots. This is similar to the Klein bottle partition function defined for IQFTs.

Moreover, we studied the dynamical fermionic correlation functions in crosscap state in the Tonks-Girardeau limit. We derived analytic results for the two- and four-point functions, which turns out to be surprisingly simple. This gives another valuable data point of analytic results of dynamical correlation functions. By taking the equal time limit, we obtain the density expectation value and the density-density correlator. We find that the density expectation value is time-independent but divergent and the density-density correlator is factorizable.

There are some unsolved problems and natural extensions of this work. Firstly, the exact nature of the divergences in the density correlation function should be further clarified. In this regard, it would be interesting to consider the quench dynamics of the crosscap state in the Heisenberg spin chains. One can study the correlation functions for finite chain first and then consider the continuum limit. As usual, the discrete nature of the spin chain would regularize the divergence and provides us useful insights for the continuous model.

An intriguing direction for future research would be to extend the concept of the crosscap state to other integrable models which is in the same category, examples include Gaudin-Yang model, Toda chain and Calogero-Sutherland model. One can even consider integrable deformations such as  $T\bar{T}$ -deformation of these models. The  $T\bar{T}$ -deformation of the Lieb-Liniger model was studied in [56–58], which turns out to describe dynamical hard rod gas. The study of integrable boundary and boundary states in the  $T\bar{T}$ -deformed context was initiated in [59]. Our current work gives a clear hint for the construction of crosscap states for these models. It would be interesting to explore the meaning of integrable states in these models and study their properties.

Finally, within the Lieb-Liniger model, our construction gives another concrete example of integrable boundary states in addition to the BEC state. It is natural to ask whether one can construct more integrable boundary states for the Lieb-Liniger model. Our current work indicates that considering continuum limit of the spin chain models might be a promising direction.

## Acknowledgments

We thank Yuan Miao and Ryo Suzuki for helpful discussions.

# A Proof of equation (2.56)

In this appendix, we shall prove that the function  $\mathbf{F}(l_m, l_{m+N/2})$  becomes just depend on  $\lambda_m$  in the paired rapidities limit, namely (2.56). According to the notation (2.33), we transform the arguments  $l_i$  into  $\lambda_j$  then consider the limit

$$\lambda_{j+N/2} \to -\lambda_j, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots, N/2.$$
 (A.1)

After this procedure, one can obtain

$$\prod_{\substack{j=m+1\\j\neq m}}^{m+N/2-1} \left[ \frac{f\left(l_{j}, l_{m}\right) f\left(l_{m+N/2}, l_{j}\right)}{f\left(l_{m}, l_{j}\right) f\left(l_{j}, l_{m+N/2}\right)} \right]^{1/2} = \prod_{\substack{j=1\\j\neq m}}^{m-1} \left[ \frac{f\left(l_{j+N/2}, l_{m}\right) f\left(l_{m+N/2}, l_{j+N/2}\right)}{f\left(l_{m+N/2}, l_{m+N/2}\right)} \right]^{1/2} \prod_{\substack{j=m+1\\j\neq m}}^{N/2} \left[ \frac{f\left(l_{j}, l_{m}\right) f\left(l_{m+N/2}, l_{j}\right)}{f\left(l_{m}, l_{j}\right) f\left(l_{j+N/2}, l_{m+N/2}\right)} \right]^{1/2} \prod_{\substack{j=m+1\\j\neq m}}^{N/2} \left[ \frac{f\left(-\lambda_{j} - \lambda_{m}\right) f\left(-\lambda_{m} + \lambda_{j}\right)}{f\left(\lambda_{m} + \lambda_{j}\right) f\left(-\lambda_{j} + \lambda_{m}\right)} \right]^{1/2} \prod_{\substack{j=m+1\\j\neq m}}^{N/2} \left[ \frac{f\left(-\lambda_{j} - \lambda_{m}\right) f\left(-\lambda_{m} + \lambda_{j}\right)}{f\left(\lambda_{m} + \lambda_{j}\right) f\left(-\lambda_{j} + \lambda_{m}\right)} \right]^{1/2} .$$
(A.2)

Similarly, we have

$$\prod_{j=m+1}^{m+N/2-1} \left[ \frac{f\left(l_{j}, l_{m+N/2}\right) f\left(l_{m}, l_{j}\right)}{f\left(l_{m+N/2}, l_{j}\right) f\left(l_{j}, l_{m}\right)} \right]^{1/2} = \prod_{\substack{j=1\\j \neq m}}^{N/2} \left[ \frac{f(\lambda_{j} + \lambda_{m}) f(\lambda_{m} - \lambda_{j})}{f(-\lambda_{m} - \lambda_{j}) f(\lambda_{j} - \lambda_{m})} \right]^{1/2}.$$
 (A.3)

In addition, the Bethe equations can be written as

$$a_{m} = \prod_{\substack{k=1\\k\neq m}}^{N} \frac{f(l_{k}, l_{m})}{f(l_{m}, l_{k})}$$
  
= 
$$\prod_{\substack{k=1\\k\neq m}}^{N/2} \frac{f(l_{k}, l_{m})f(l_{k+N/2}, l_{m})}{f(l_{m}, l_{k})f(l_{m}, l_{k+N/2})} \cdot \frac{f\left(l_{m+N/2}, l_{m}\right)}{f\left(l_{m}, l_{m+N/2}\right)}$$
  
= 
$$\prod_{\substack{k=1\\k\neq m}}^{N/2} \frac{f(\lambda_{k} - \lambda_{m})f(-\lambda_{k} - \lambda_{m})}{f(\lambda_{m} - \lambda_{k})f(\lambda_{m} + \lambda_{k})} \cdot \frac{f(-2\lambda_{m})}{f(2\lambda_{m})}, \qquad (A.4)$$

as well as

$$a_{m+N/2} = \prod_{\substack{k=1\\k\neq m}}^{N/2} \frac{f(\lambda_k + \lambda_m)f(\lambda_m - \lambda_k)}{f(-\lambda_m - \lambda_k)f(\lambda_k - \lambda_m)} \cdot \frac{f(2\lambda_m)}{f(-2\lambda_m)}.$$
 (A.5)

Substituting these relations (A.2)-(A.5) into (2.52), we find most of the terms are cancelled and the final result is

$$\mathbf{F}(l_m, l_{m+N/2}) = 2\sqrt{f(-2\lambda_m)f(2\lambda_m)}, \quad 1 \le m \le N/2.$$
(A.6)

# B Deriving the crosscap state in Lieb-Liniger model

We treat more details about deriving the crosscap state in Lieb-Liniger model, which are mentioned in section 3.1.

We first consider the Dyson-Maleev transformation method. Applying the limit procedure to (3.5), we arrive at

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{C}\rangle &\equiv \prod_{j=1}^{L/2} \left( 1 + a_j^{\dagger} a_{j+L/2}^{\dagger} \right) |\Omega\rangle \\ &= \exp\left[ \sum_{j=1}^{L/2} \log\left( 1 + a_j^{\dagger} a_{j+L/2}^{\dagger} \right) \right] |\Omega\rangle \\ &= \exp\left[ \frac{1}{\delta} \int_0^{\ell/2} dx \log\left( 1 + \frac{1}{L} \left( \sum_k e^{-ikx} \tilde{a}_k^{\dagger} \right) \left( \sum_{k'} e^{-ik'(x+\ell/2)} \tilde{a}_{k'}^{\dagger} \right) \right) \right] |\Omega\rangle \\ &= \exp\left( \frac{1}{\delta} \int_0^{\ell/2} dx \log\left( 1 + \frac{\ell^2}{L(2\pi)^2} \int dk \int dk' e^{-i(k+k')x - ik'\ell/2} \tilde{\Phi}_k^{\dagger} \tilde{\Phi}_{k'}^{\dagger} \right) \right] |\Omega\rangle \\ &\approx \exp\left[ \frac{\ell}{(2\pi)^2} \int_0^{\ell/2} dx \int dk \int dk' e^{-i(k+k')x - ik'\ell/2} \tilde{\Phi}_k^{\dagger} \tilde{\Phi}_{k'}^{\dagger} \right) |\Omega\rangle \\ &= \exp\left( \int_0^{\ell/2} dx \Phi^{\dagger}(x) \Phi^{\dagger}(x+\ell/2) \right) |\Omega\rangle. \end{aligned}$$
(B.1)

In the first step, we rewrite the crosscap into the exponential form. In the second and third step we use the Fourier transformation and take the limiting procedure. In the fourth step, we consider the large L limit but fix the  $\ell$ . We finally obtain the crosscap state after integrating out the momentum space.

We then consider the discrete version of Lieb-Liniger model, which is closely related to the *generalized* XXX spin chain [46]. By using the definition of the local spin operator (3.19), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{C}\rangle &\equiv \prod_{n=1}^{L/2} \left( 1 + \tilde{S}_n^+ \tilde{S}_{n+\frac{L}{2}}^+ \right) |\Omega\rangle = \prod_{n=1}^{L/2} \left( 1 + \psi_n^\dagger \psi_{n+L/2}^\dagger \right) |\Omega\rangle \\ &= \exp\left( \sum_{n=1}^{L/2} \log\left( 1 + \psi_n^\dagger \psi_{n+L/2}^\dagger \right) \right) |\Omega\rangle \\ &= \exp\left( \sum_{n=1}^{L/2} \log\left( 1 + \Delta \Phi^\dagger(x_n) \Phi^\dagger(x_n + \ell/2) \right) \right) |\Omega\rangle \\ &\approx \exp\left( \sum_{n=1}^{L/2} \Delta \Phi^\dagger(x_n) \Phi^\dagger(x_n + \ell/2) \right) |\Omega\rangle \\ &= \exp\left( \int_0^{\ell/2} dx \Phi^\dagger(x) \Phi^\dagger(x + \ell/2) \right) |\Omega\rangle, \end{aligned}$$
(B.2)

where we use the fact  $\psi_n$  annihilate the pseudovacuum.

We can also treat the discrete version of Lieb-Liniger model as non-compact  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ spin chain then take the continuum limit. The crosscap state defined in  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  spin chain can be written as

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{C}\rangle &= \prod_{n=1}^{L/2} \exp\left(\tilde{S}_n^+ \tilde{S}_{n+\frac{L}{2}}^+\right) |\Omega\rangle \\ &= \exp\left(\sum_{n=1}^{L/2} \tilde{S}_n^+ \tilde{S}_{n+\frac{L}{2}}^+\right) |\Omega\rangle \\ &= \exp\left(\Delta \sum_{j=1}^{L/2} \Phi^{\dagger}(x_n) \Phi^{\dagger}(x_n + \ell/2)\right) |\Omega\rangle \\ &= \exp\left(\int_0^{\ell/2} dx \Phi^{\dagger}(x) \Phi^{\dagger}(x + \ell/2)\right) |\Omega\rangle. \end{aligned}$$
(B.3)

Finally, we arrive at the same crosscap state in Lieb-Liniger model by taking the continuum limit from both Heisenberg spin chains and non-compact  $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$  spin chain.

#### C Lattice computation of correlation functions

This section is the detail calculation of the correlation function in lattice model. Since the crosscap state is already defined in truncated Hilbert space, we can straightforward obtain

the time-independent correlation function. According to the definition of the crosscap state and the commutation relation of the hard-core boson  $a_j$ , we find the following relations

$$a_{r}^{\dagger}a_{s}|\mathcal{C}\rangle = a_{r}^{\dagger}a_{s+L/2}^{\dagger}\prod_{j=1, j\neq s}^{L/2} \left(1 + a_{j}^{\dagger}a_{j+L/2}^{\dagger}\right)|\Omega\rangle, \qquad 1 \le s < L/2, \qquad (C.1)$$

$$a_{r}^{\dagger}a_{s+L/2}|\mathcal{C}\rangle = a_{r}^{\dagger}a_{s}^{\dagger}\prod_{j=1, j \neq s}^{L/2} \left(1 + a_{j}^{\dagger}a_{j+L/2}^{\dagger}\right)|\Omega\rangle, \qquad 1 \le s < L/2, \qquad (C.2)$$

$$a_r^{\dagger} a_s^{\dagger} |\mathcal{C}\rangle = a_r^{\dagger} a_s^{\dagger} \prod_{j=1, j \neq s}^{L/2} \left( 1 + a_j^{\dagger} a_{j+L/2}^{\dagger} \right) |\Omega\rangle, \qquad 1 \le s < L/2, \qquad (C.3)$$

$$a_{r}^{\dagger}a_{s+L/2}^{\dagger}|\mathcal{C}\rangle = a_{r}^{\dagger}a_{s+L/2}^{\dagger}\prod_{j=1, j \neq s}^{L/2} \left(1 + a_{j}^{\dagger}a_{j+L/2}^{\dagger}\right)|\Omega\rangle, \qquad 1 \le s < L/2, \qquad (C.4)$$

which lead to (for  $r \leq s$ )

$$\langle \mathcal{C} | a_r^{\dagger} a_s | \mathcal{C} \rangle = 2^{L/2 - 1} \delta_{r,s}, \tag{C.5}$$

$$\langle \mathcal{C} | a_r a_s^{\dagger} | \mathcal{C} \rangle = 2^{L/2 - 1} \delta_{r,s}, \tag{C.6}$$

$$\langle \mathcal{C} | a_r^{\dagger} a_s^{\dagger} | \mathcal{C} \rangle = 2^{L/2 - 1} \delta_{s, r+L/2}, \tag{C.7}$$

$$\langle \mathcal{C} | a_r a_s | \mathcal{C} \rangle = 2^{L/2 - 1} \delta_{s, r+L/2}. \tag{C.8}$$

Notice the norm of the crosscap state is  $\langle C|C \rangle = 2^{L/2}$ , we then obtain that (for  $r \leq s$ )

$$\frac{\langle \mathcal{C} | c_r^{\dagger} c_s | \mathcal{C} \rangle}{\langle \mathcal{C} | \mathcal{C} \rangle} = \frac{\langle \mathcal{C} | a_r^{\dagger} \prod_{p=r+1}^{s-1} \left( 1 - 2a_p^{\dagger} a_p \right) a_s | \mathcal{C} \rangle}{\langle \mathcal{C} | \mathcal{C} \rangle} = \frac{1}{2} \delta_{r,s}, \tag{C.9}$$

$$\frac{\langle \mathcal{C} | c_r c_s^{\dagger} | \mathcal{C} \rangle}{\langle \mathcal{C} | \mathcal{C} \rangle} = -\frac{\langle \mathcal{C} | a_r \prod_{p=r+1}^{s-1} \left( 1 - 2a_p^{\dagger} a_p \right) a_s^{\dagger} | \mathcal{C} \rangle}{\langle \mathcal{C} | \mathcal{C} \rangle} = -\frac{1}{2} \delta_{r,s}, \tag{C.10}$$

$$\frac{\langle \mathcal{C} | c_r^{\dagger} c_s^{\dagger} | \mathcal{C} \rangle}{\langle \mathcal{C} | \mathcal{C} \rangle} = \frac{\delta_{r+L/2,s} \langle \mathcal{C} | a_r^{\dagger} a_{r+L/2}^{\dagger} \prod_{p=1, p \neq r}^{L/2} \left( 1 - 2a_p^{\dagger} a_p \right) | \mathcal{C} \rangle}{\langle \mathcal{C} | \mathcal{C} \rangle} = \frac{1}{2} \delta_{r+L/2,s} \delta_{L,2}, \qquad (C.11)$$

$$\frac{\langle \mathcal{C} | c_r c_s | \mathcal{C} \rangle}{\langle \mathcal{C} | \mathcal{C} \rangle} = -\frac{\delta_{r+L/2,s} \langle \mathcal{C} | a_r a_{r+L/2} \prod_{p=1, p \neq r}^{L/2} \left( 1 - 2a_p^{\dagger} a_p \right) | \mathcal{C} \rangle}{\langle \mathcal{C} | \mathcal{C} \rangle} = -\frac{1}{2} \delta_{r+L/2,s} \delta_{L,2}, \quad (C.12)$$

where we use the Jordan-Wigner transformation. If we consider the length of the chain larger than 2, the last two cases become vanishing.

For the four-point function, we first consider the indices are in the order  $k \leq l \leq m \leq j$ 

$$\langle \mathcal{C} | c_k^{\dagger} c_l c_m^{\dagger} c_j | \mathcal{C} \rangle \tag{C.13}$$

We split the four operator into two pairs, then use the Jordan-Wigner transformation for each pair. The non-vanishing of the correlation indices must be paired k = l, m = j, namely

$$\langle c_l^{\dagger} c_l c_j^{\dagger} c_j \rangle_{\mathcal{C}} = \begin{cases} 1/4 \ i \neq j, j + \frac{L}{2} \\ 1/2 \ i = j, j + \frac{L}{2} \end{cases} .$$
(C.14)

If the operators are not in this order  $k \leq l \leq m \leq j$ , we permute them so that they are spatially ordered. Note that the final order of the two creation and the two annihilation operators may be different from the original one. There are three situations

$$c_k c_l = a_k \prod_{p=k}^{l-1} \left( 1 - 2a_p^{\dagger} a_p \right) a_l = -a_k \prod_{p=k+1}^{l-1} \left( 1 - 2a_p^{\dagger} a_p \right) a_l,$$
(C.15)

$$c_k c_l^{\dagger} = a_k \prod_{p=k}^{l-1} \left( 1 - 2a_p^{\dagger} a_p \right) a_l^{\dagger} = -a_k \prod_{p=k+1}^{l-1} \left( 1 - 2a_p^{\dagger} a_p \right) a_l^{\dagger}, \tag{C.16}$$

$$c_{k}^{\dagger}c_{l}^{\dagger} = a_{k}^{\dagger}\prod_{p=k}^{l-1} \left(1 - 2a_{p}^{\dagger}a_{p}\right)a_{l}^{\dagger} = a_{k}^{\dagger}\prod_{p=k+1}^{l-1} \left(1 - 2a_{p}^{\dagger}a_{p}\right)a_{l}^{\dagger}, \tag{C.17}$$

which follow the results

operator	0 pair	1 pair	2 pairs	2 pairs	2 pairs
				(l=m)	$(l + \frac{L}{2} = m)$
$\langle c_k^{\dagger} c_l^{\dagger} c_m c_j \rangle_{\mathcal{C}}$	0	0	0	0	0
$\langle c_k^{\dagger} c_l c_m^{\dagger} c_j \rangle_{\mathcal{C}}$	0	0	$\frac{1}{4}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$
$\langle c_k^{\dagger} c_l c_m c_j^{\dagger} \rangle_{\mathcal{C}}$	0	0	$-\frac{1}{4}$	0	0
$\langle c_k c_l^{\dagger} c_m^{\dagger} c_j \rangle_{\mathcal{C}}$	0	0	$-\frac{1}{4}$	0	0
$\langle c_k c_l^{\dagger} c_m c_j^{\dagger} \rangle_{\mathcal{C}}$	0	0	$\frac{1}{4}$	$\frac{1}{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}$
$\langle c_k c_l c_m^{\dagger} c_j^{\dagger} \rangle_{\mathcal{C}}$	0	0	0	0	0

We conclude the results as

$$\langle c_{k}^{\dagger}c_{l}c_{m}^{\dagger}c_{j}\rangle_{\mathcal{C}} = (-1)^{\omega} \frac{1}{4} \delta_{k,l} \delta_{m,j} \Big( 1 + (-1)^{\omega} (\delta_{l,m} + \delta_{l+M/2,m}) \Big), \tag{C.18}$$

where the  $\omega$  represents the number of pairs beginning with annihilation operator.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

# References

- S. Ghoshal and A.B. Zamolodchikov, Boundary S matrix and boundary state in two-dimensional integrable quantum field theory, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 9 (1994) 3841 [Erratum ibid. 9 (1994) 4353] [hep-th/9306002] [INSPIRE].
- [2] L. Piroli, B. Pozsgay and E. Vernier, What is an integrable quench?, Nucl. Phys. B 925 (2017) 362 [arXiv:1709.04796] [INSPIRE].
- [3] B. Pozsgay, L. Piroli and E. Vernier, Integrable Matrix Product States from boundary integrability, SciPost Phys. 6 (2019) 062 [arXiv:1812.11094] [INSPIRE].
- [4] J.-S. Caux and F.H.L. Essler, Time evolution of local observables after quenching to an integrable model, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 257203 [arXiv:1301.3806] [INSPIRE].

- [5] S. Sotiriadis, G. Takács and G. Mussardo, Boundary State in an Integrable Quantum Field Theory Out of Equilibrium, Phys. Lett. B 734 (2014) 52 [arXiv:1311.4418] [INSPIRE].
- [6] B. Wouters et al., Quenching the Anisotropic Heisenberg Chain: Exact Solution and Generalized Gibbs Ensemble Predictions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 117202.
- [7] B. Pozsgay et al., Correlations after quantum quenches in the xxz spin chain: Failure of the generalized gibbs ensemble, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 117203.
- [8] F.H.L. Essler and M. Fagotti, Quench dynamics and relaxation in isolated integrable quantum spin chains, J. Stat. Mech. 1606 (2016) 064002 [arXiv:1603.06452] [INSPIRE].
- [9] M. de Leeuw, C. Kristjansen and K. Zarembo, One-point Functions in Defect CFT and Integrability, JHEP 08 (2015) 098 [arXiv:1506.06958] [INSPIRE].
- [10] I. Buhl-Mortensen, M. de Leeuw, C. Kristjansen and K. Zarembo, One-point Functions in AdS/dCFT from Matrix Product States, JHEP 02 (2016) 052 [arXiv:1512.02532] [INSPIRE].
- [11] M. de Leeuw, C. Kristjansen and S. Mori, AdS/dCFT one-point functions of the SU(3) sector, Phys. Lett. B 763 (2016) 197 [arXiv:1607.03123] [INSPIRE].
- [12] M. De Leeuw, C. Kristjansen and G. Linardopoulos, Scalar one-point functions and matrix product states of AdS/dCFT, Phys. Lett. B 781 (2018) 238 [arXiv:1802.01598] [INSPIRE].
- [13] C. Kristjansen, D. Müller and K. Zarembo, Integrable boundary states in D3-D5 dCFT: beyond scalars, JHEP 08 (2020) 103 [arXiv:2005.01392] [INSPIRE].
- [14] C. Kristjansen, D.-L. Vu and K. Zarembo, Integrable domain walls in ABJM theory, JHEP 02 (2022) 070 [arXiv:2112.10438] [INSPIRE].
- [15] T. Gombor and C. Kristjansen, Overlaps for matrix product states of arbitrary bond dimension in ABJM theory, Phys. Lett. B 834 (2022) 137428 [arXiv:2207.06866] [INSPIRE].
- [16] Y. Jiang, S. Komatsu and E. Vescovi, Structure constants in  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM at finite coupling as worldsheet g-function, JHEP 07 (2020) 037 [arXiv:1906.07733] [INSPIRE].
- [17] Y. Jiang, S. Komatsu and E. Vescovi, Exact Three-Point Functions of Determinant Operators in Planar N = 4 Supersymmetric Yang-Mills Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. **123** (2019) 191601
   [arXiv:1907.11242] [INSPIRE].
- [18] P. Yang, Y. Jiang, S. Komatsu and J.-B. Wu, Three-point functions in ABJM and Bethe Ansatz, JHEP 01 (2022) 002 [arXiv:2103.15840] [INSPIRE].
- [19] Y. Jiang, S. Komatsu and E. Vescovi, to appear.
- [20] Y. Jiang, J.-B. Wu and P. Yang, Wilson-loop One-point Functions in ABJM Theory, arXiv:2306.05773 [INSPIRE].
- [21] C. Kristjansen and K. Zarembo, 't Hooft loops and integrability, arXiv: 2305.03649 [INSPIRE].
- [22] B. Pozsgay, Overlaps between eigenstates of the XXZ spin-1/2 chain and a class of simple product states, J. Stat. Mech. 2014 (2014) P06011.
- [23] M. Brockmann, J.D. Nardis, B. Wouters and J.-S. Caux, A Gaudin-like determinant for overlaps of Néel and XXZ Bethe states, J. Phys. A 47 (2014) 145003.
- [24] M. Brockmann, J.D. Nardis, B. Wouters and J.-S. Caux, Néel-XXZ state overlaps: odd particle numbers and Lieb-Liniger scaling limit, J. Phys. A 47 (2014) 345003.
- [25] M. Brockmann, Overlaps of q-raised Néel states with xxz bethe states and their relation to the Lieb-Liniger bose gas, J. Stat. Mech. 2014 (2014) P05006.

- [26] O. Foda and K. Zarembo, Overlaps of partial Néel states and Bethe states, J. Stat. Mech. 1602 (2016) 023107 [arXiv:1512.02533] [INSPIRE].
- [27] B. Pozsgay, Overlaps with arbitrary two-site states in the XXZ spin chain, J. Stat. Mech. 1805
   (2018) 053103 [arXiv:1801.03838] [INSPIRE].
- [28] Y. Jiang and B. Pozsgay, On exact overlaps in integrable spin chains, JHEP 06 (2020) 022 [arXiv:2002.12065] [INSPIRE].
- [29] H.-H. Chen, Exact overlaps in the Lieb-Liniger model from coordinate Bethe ansatz, Phys. Lett. B 808 (2020) 135631 [arXiv:2003.02711] [INSPIRE].
- [30] T. Gombor and B. Pozsgay, On factorized overlaps: Algebraic Bethe Ansatz, twists, and Separation of Variables, Nucl. Phys. B 967 (2021) 115390 [arXiv:2101.10354] [INSPIRE].
- [31] T. Gombor, On exact overlaps for gl(N) symmetric spin chains, Nucl. Phys. B 983 (2022) 115909 [arXiv:2110.07960] [INSPIRE].
- [32] N. Ishibashi, The Boundary and Crosscap States in Conformal Field Theories, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 4 (1989) 251 [INSPIRE].
- [33] J. Caetano and S. Komatsu, Crosscap States in Integrable Field Theories and Spin Chains, J. Statist. Phys. 187 (2022) 30 [arXiv:2111.09901] [INSPIRE].
- [34] T. Gombor, Integrable crosscap states in gl(N) spin chains, JHEP 10 (2022) 096
   [arXiv:2207.10598] [INSPIRE].
- [35] T. Gombor, Integrable crosscaps in classical sigma models, JHEP 03 (2023) 146 [arXiv:2210.02230] [INSPIRE].
- [36] E.H. Lieb and W. Liniger, Exact analysis of an interacting Bose gas. 1. The General solution and the ground state, Phys. Rev. 130 (1963) 1605 [INSPIRE].
- [37] X.-W. Guan, M.T. Batchelor and C. Lee, Fermi gases in one dimension: From Bethe ansatz to experiments, Rev. Mod. Phys. 85 (2013) 1633 [arXiv:1301.6446].
- [38] M.T. Batchelor and A. Foerster, Yang-Baxter integrable models in experiments: from condensed matter to ultracold atoms, J. Phys. A 49 (2016) 173001 [arXiv:1510.05810] [INSPIRE].
- [39] X.-W. Guan and P. He, New trends in quantum integrability: recent experiments with ultracold atoms, Rept. Prog. Phys. 85 (2022) 114001 [arXiv:2207.01153] [INSPIRE].
- [40] J.D. Nardis, B. Wouters, M. Brockmann and J.-S. Caux, Solution for an interaction quench in the Lieb-Liniger Bose gas, Phys. Rev. A 89 (2014) 033601.
- [41] M. Kormos, M. Collura and P. Calabrese, Analytic results for a quantum quench from free to hard-core one dimensional bosons, Phys. Rev. A 89 (2014) 013609 [arXiv:1307.2142]
   [INSPIRE].
- [42] M. Kormos, G. Mussardo and A. Trombettoni, Expectation Values in the Lieb-Liniger Bose Gas, Phys. Rev. Lett. 103 (2009) 210404 [arXiv:0909.1336] [INSPIRE].
- [43] M. Kormos, G. Mussardo and A. Trombettoni, 1D Lieb-Liniger Bose Gas as Non-Relativistic Limit of the Sinh-Gordon Model, Phys. Rev. A 81 (2010) 043606 [arXiv:0912.3502]
   [INSPIRE].
- [44] B. Golzer and A. Holz, The nonlinear Schrödinger model as a special continuum limit of the anisotropic Heisenberg model, J. Phys. A 20 (1987) 3327.

- [45] B. Pozsgay, Local correlations in the 1D Bose gas from a scaling limit of the XXZ chain, J. Stat. Mech. 1111 (2011) P11017 [arXiv:1108.6224] [INSPIRE].
- [46] A.G. Izergin and V.E. Korepin, Lattice versions of quantum field theory models in two-dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 205 (1982) 401 [INSPIRE].
- [47] C. Ekman, Crosscap states in the XXX spin-1/2 spin chain, arXiv:2207.12354 [INSPIRE].
- [48] V.E. Korepin, Calculation of norms of Bethe wave functions, Commun. Math. Phys. 86 (1982) 391 [INSPIRE].
- [49] V.E. Korepin, N.M. Bogoliubov and A.G. Izergin, Quantum Inverse Scattering Method and Correlation Functions, Cambridge University Press (1993) [DOI:10.1017/CB09780511628832] [INSPIRE].
- [50] A.G. Izergin and V.E. Korepin, A Lattice model related to the nonlinear Schroedinger equation, arXiv:0910.0295 [INSPIRE].
- [51] L. Piroli, B. Pozsgay and E. Vernier, From the quantum transfer matrix to the quench action: the Loschmidt echo in XXZ Heisenberg spin chains, J. Stat. Mech. 1702 (2017) 023106 [arXiv:1611.06126] [INSPIRE].
- [52] Y. Jiang, R. Wen and Y. Zhang, *Exact Quench Dynamics from Algebraic Geometry*, arXiv:2109.10568 [INSPIRE].
- [53] C.-N. Yang and C.P. Yang, Thermodynamics of one-dimensional system of bosons with repulsive delta function interaction, J. Math. Phys. 10 (1969) 1115 [INSPIRE].
- [54] J.-S. Caux, The Quench Action, J. Stat. Mech. 1606 (2016) 064006 [arXiv:1603.04689]
   [INSPIRE].
- [55] M. Collura, S. Sotiriadis and P. Calabrese, Quench dynamics of a Tonks-Girardeau gas released from a harmonic trap, J. Stat. Mech. 2013 (2013) P09025.
- [56] J. Cardy and B. Doyon, TT deformations and the width of fundamental particles, JHEP 04 (2022) 136 [arXiv:2010.15733] [INSPIRE].
- [57] Y. Jiang, TT-deformed 1d Bose gas, SciPost Phys. 12 (2022) 191 [arXiv:2011.00637]
   [INSPIRE].
- [58] D. Hansen, Y. Jiang and J. Xu, Geometrizing non-relativistic bilinear deformations, JHEP 04 (2021) 186 [arXiv:2012.12290] [INSPIRE].
- [59] Y. Jiang, F. Loebbert and D.-L. Zhong, Irrelevant deformations with boundaries and defects, J. Stat. Mech. 2204 (2022) 043102 [arXiv:2109.13180] [INSPIRE].